

Calculating PCN using the FAA Method

Authored by:

Ken DeBord, PE Airport Compatibility Engineering The Boeing Company

July 11, 2012

Reviewed by: Mike Roginski, PE Ed Gervais, PE



Contents

Introduction	1
The Cumulative Damage Factor (CDF)	3
First Things First	3
Example 1 - Rigid Pavement	4
Example 1A - Rigid Pavement Runway 15/33	5
Example 1B - Reducing the Modulus of Rupture	13
Example 1C - Reducing the Thickness	15
Example 2 - Flexible Pavement	16
Example 2A - Flexible Pavement Runway 11/29	16
Example 2B - Adding an Overlay	25
Example 2C - Reducing the CBR	28
Example 3 - Composite Pavement	30
Example 3A - Composite Pavement Runway 17/35	30
Example 3B - Overlay of Composite Runway 17/35	34
Example 4 - Excessively Over-designed Pavement	35
Closing Thoughts	39

Figures

Figure 1 - Example 1A Effective k-value	6
Figure 2 - Example 1A COMFAA Input Screen	7
Figure 3 - Example 1A Initial Rigid Pavement Output Details	7
Figure 4 - Example 1A Results Table 1 Input Traffic Data	8
Figure 5 - Example 1A Results Table 2 PCN Values	9
Figure 6 - Example 1A Results Table 4 Summary Output Data	. 10
Figure 7 - Example 1A Data Parse Entry into Support Spreadsheet	. 10
Figure 8 - Example 1A Thickness and Maximum Gross Weight	. 11
Figure 9 – Example 1A ACN and PCN Comparison	. 12
Figure 10 - Example 1B Results Table 2 PCN Values	. 14
Figure 11 - Example 1B ACN and PCN Comparison	. 14
Figure 12 - Example 1C Results Table 2 PCN Values	. 15
Figure 13 - Example 2A Pavement Layer Equivalency	. 18
Figure 14 - Example 2A COMFAA Input Screen	20
Figure 15 - Example 2A Initial Flexible Pavement Output Details	20
Figure 16 - Example 2A Results Table 1 Input Traffic Data	21
Figure 17 - Example 2A Results Table 2 PCN Values	22
Figure 18 - Example 2A Thickness and Maximum Weight Requirements	. 23
Figure 19 - Example 2A ACN and PCN Comparison	. 24
Figure 20 - Example 2B Evaluation Thickness Change	. 25
Figure 21 - Example 2B Results Table 2 PCN Values	. 26
Figure 22 - Example 2B Results, Table 2 Adjusted PCN Values	. 27
Figure 23 - Example 2B ACN and PCN Comparison	28
Figure 24 - Example 2C Results Table 2 PCN	. 29
Figure 25 - Example 2C ACN and PCN Comparison	. 29
Figure 26 - Example 3A Composite Pavement Layer Equivalency	. 32
Figure 27 - Example 3A Graphical Composite Pavement Thickness Requirements	. 33

DEING

Figure 28 - Example 3A ACN and PCN Comparison	33
Figure 29 - Example 3B Composite Pavement ACN and PCN Comparison	
Figure 30 - Example 4 Pavement Layer Equivalency Calculation	35
Figure 31 - Example 4 Results Table 2 PCN Showing Unlimited Pavement Life	
Figure 32 - Example 4 Results Table 2 PCN	
Figure 33 - Example 4 PCN and ACN Comparison	
Figure 34 - Effect of M _R and Slab Thickness on PCN	
Figure 31 - Example 4 Results Table 2 PCN Showing Unlimited Pavement Life Figure 32 - Example 4 Results Table 2 PCN Figure 33 - Example 4 PCN and ACN Comparison Figure 34 - Effect of M _R and Slab Thickness on PCN	

Tables

Table 1 - Examples 1 and 2 Traffic	
Table 2 - Example 1A Pavement Properties	
Table 3 - Example 1A Allowable Gross Weights	12
Table 4 - Example 1B Pavement Properties	13
Table 5 - Example 2A Pavement Properties	16
Table 6 - FAA Flexible Pavement Reference Layer Thickness	16
Table 7 - FAA Flexible Pavement Equivalency Factors	17
Table 8 - Example 2A Allowable Gross Weights	24
Table 9 - Example 3 Traffic	30
Table 10 - Example 3A Pavement Properties	31
Table 11 - Example 4 Pavement Properties	35
Table 12 - Example 4 Traffic	36



Introduction

The ACN/PCN system of rating airport pavements is designated by the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) as the only approved method for reporting strength. Although there is a great amount of material published on how an ACN is computed, ICAO has not yet specified regulatory guidance as to how an airport authority is to arrive at a PCN, but has left it up to that agency as to how to perform this task. This is not a result of member states reluctance to agree on an international standardized method of pavement evaluation, but rather an affirmation that they should rely on their own internally developed procedures. Acceptance of the ACN/PCN method itself resulted only from the omission of a uniform evaluation standard in that many states felt that their method was superior, and a change to another method would be costly in terms of study, research, development, field training, staff familiarity, and all other attendant concerns.

As a consequence, it has been discovered through our work and correspondence with airport authorities, engineering consultants, and airlines that there is a great amount of uncertainty among many states that do not have well-established evaluation methodology as to exactly how to arrive at a PCN and still be within the boundaries of whatever ICAO guidelines might exist. Most organizations attempt to follow regulatory guidelines in their operations, but without a specific guidance procedure this uncertainty has developed. Additionally, without published ICAO standard recommendations on this subject, the determination of PCN has most certainly been anywhere from inconsistent to erroneous. This paper presents methods to calculate PCN using the FAA method as described in FAA Advisory Circular 150/5335-5B.

The purpose of an airfield pavement is to provide a surface on which aircraft takeoffs, landings, and other operations may be safely conducted. The purpose of a pavement rating is to allow for adequate pavement utilization at a reasonable cost, with the optimization of pavement economics that vary with local operational conditions. For example, a heavily used runway should have greater strength and a correspondingly greater rating than a lightly used runway, even though they both may have been designed to be served by the same aircraft. Although the PCN does not indicate anything about actual traffic and pavement characteristics, these components are necessary in order to determine the allowable gross weight for a critical airplane, which is then turned into a rating called PCN.

In the most fundamental terms, the determination of a rating in terms of PCN is a process of deciding on the maximum allowable gross weight of a selected critical airplane for a pavement, and knowing its ACN at that weight, reporting it as PCN. This process can be as simple as knowing the operational gross weight of each aircraft that is currently using the pavement and looking up its ACN (referred to as the *Using* aircraft method). This method can be applied with limited knowledge of the existing traffic and pavement characteristics. The second method is more complex and is referred to as *Technical* evaluation. In order to be successfully implemented, *Technical* evaluation requires a more intimate knowledge of the pavement and its traffic, as well as a basic understanding of engineering methods that are utilized in pavement design. In either of these cases, accuracy is improved with greater knowledge of the pavement and traffic characteristics.

There are no precise pavement strength requirements for a given airplane or fleet of airplanes, even though the various design systems in use today can be very accurate in their computational abilities. Pavement structural capability is best determined through a combination of on-site inspection, load-bearing tests, and engineering judgment. Each of these are of importance, and it



is for this reason that pavement ratings should not be viewed in precise terms, but rather as nominal estimations of a representative value. The end result of a valid rating process is that an assignment of PCN is enabled which considers the effects of all significant traffic on the pavement.

The strength rating of airport pavements is commonly thought of in terms of conventional structural concepts in which limiting loads are determined based on ultimate strength or failure criteria. However, pavements do not generally experience a loss in serviceability from instantaneous structural failure, but rather from an increase in roughness or gradual deterioration resulting from the accumulated effects of traffic. Structural failure is most often recognized in terms of common pavement distresses such as rutting, cracking, and noticeably intolerable roughness that both pilots and passengers experience. Analysis of the adequacy of a pavement for the intended service, therefore, requires that a pavement rating be assigned that not only considers the significance of load magnitude, but the effects of the traffic volume over the intended life of the pavement.

The PCN rating process is not related to the pavement design process. Pavement design cannot be determined from a PCN rating in that the PCN is a rating of pavement strength in terms of ACN. The PCN does not indicate anything about traffic volume, design loads, or pavement thickness, which are major components in pavement design. Flexible pavement ACN is no more than the weight of a standard single wheel at a standard tire pressure that has the same thickness requirements as the airplane in question at an arbitrary 10,000 coverages. Rigid pavement ACN is likewise the weight of a standard single wheel load that has the same thickness requirements as the airplane in question at an arbitrary 399 psi (2.75 Mpa) concrete working stress. (The values of 10,000 coverages and 399 psi working stress were chosen in the ACN/PCN development process as representative values of typical airfield pavements). The ACN is therefore a relative number based on chosen pavement design parameters, and the PCN is the ACN of the critical airplane at its allowable gross weight. It is for these reasons that conversions of other rating methods to PCN, such as LCN, cannot be developed.

The steps outlined in this document can be used by a pavement engineer to determine the rating of a runway pavement in terms of PCN. These steps can also be utilized for taxiways, but evaluation of parking aprons is somewhat more difficult due to the lack of detailed traffic pattern information. Both rigid (concrete) and flexible (asphalt) runway types are included, along with a discussion of composite pavements. Additionally, methods that go beyond the simplified methods presented in Annex 14 are given that will allow the assignment of a PCN in overload conditions where the pavement is not strong enough to handle current or future traffic.

The ACN/PCN method is based on design procedures that evaluate one aircraft against the pavement structure. In other words, calculations necessary to determine the PCN are performed for one aircraft at a time. In pavement design, the FAA has used the equivalent annual departure concept to consolidate entire traffic mixtures into equivalent annual departures of one representative aircraft. This concept is carried over into the PCN procedure in which equivalent annual departures for a given aircraft from a traffic mixture are based on the cumulative damage factor (CDF).

DBDEING

The Cumulative Damage Factor (CDF)

The CDF method is based on the principle of Miner's Rule, which states that the damage induced in a structure or pavement is proportional to the number of load applications divided by the number of load applications required to fail the pavement. In the PCN analysis the CDF of each aircraft is simply its 20-year coverages divided by the number of failure coverages. The failure models are the CBR method for flexible pavements and Westergaard edge case method for rigid pavements.

A single aircraft is not initially designated as critical in this method, but each one in the traffic mix is considered critical and evaluated using the equivalent coverages of all the remaining traffic. Equivalent coverages are computed by ratioing the coverages to failure of each individual critical aircraft to all the other aircraft in the mix and then multiplying by that aircraft's 20-year coverages. The total summation determines the equivalent coverages and is different for each aircraft in the mix.

For each aircraft's total equivalent coverages a pavement design thickness can be calculated using the COMFAA software. If the resulting required design thickness for all aircraft in the mix is less than the actual pavement thickness, then the pavement can handle all the traffic, and the resulting PCN should be greater than the highest ACN values. Conversely, if the actual pavement thickness is less than that required by the COMFAA design thickness computation, then the PCN would be lower than some of the ACN values, thereby possibly restricting some operations.

The PCN values for each aircraft in the mix are automatically calculated by the COMFAA program. The PCN is merely the aircraft ACN at its maximum allowable weight. The maximum allowable weight is based on the total equivalent coverages of each aircraft and the actual pavement thickness, and it is an indication of the true bearing strength of the pavement.

This document provides a number of PCN calculation examples that will cover a variety of situations. Although these examples are comprehensive, the engineer will soon experience a pavement that is not covered. It is therefore prudent that the solutions arrived at must make sense for the problem at hand, with the realization that judgment obtained over years of experience is a necessary part of the solution.

The examples presented herein are all taken from existing airport data.

First Things First

The very first thing to do when calculating a PCN for a runway, a runway segment, or any other pavement is to create a new folder on your computer for that project. This includes copying the COMFAA and support spreadsheet files to this new folder. Always run COMFAA from this folder for that particular job. By doing so, you will be able to keep each project's input and output files separate. For a given airport create an airport traffic file (.ext) using COMFAA in the same folder.

BOEING

Example 1 - Rigid Pavement

Description

This airport consists of two runways – one is a rigid pavement and the second is a flexible pavement. Both are of typical design and construction for the traffic encountered. Runway 15/33, analyzed in Example 1A, is well designed and the derived PCN is adequate. Example 1B shows the effect of altering the Modulus of Rupture and its affect the PCN. Example 1C shows the effect of reducing slab thickness.

The flexible runway, 11/29, is analyzed in Example 2, is marginally acceptable and may require an overlay.

Annual Traffic

The airport authority has reported the average annual traffic, as seen in Table 1. Runway 15/33 has 60% of the traffic and Runway 11/29 has the remainder. Note that the Maximum Taxi Weight (MTW) of each aircraft is shown rather than actual operating weights; however, weights at less than MTW may be used at the option of the engineer.

There are at least two reasons for using maximum weights:

- 1. The COMFAA program lists each aircraft at MTW, and the construction of the traffic file for that program is less tedious when MTW is used.
- 2. The use of MTW rather than actual weights is more conservative.

				Departures			
			Average	Rigid	Flexible		
	Gear	MTW	Annual	Runway 15/33	Runway 11/29		
Aircraft	Туре	(lb)	Departures	60%	40%		
B747-400ER	2D/2D2	913,000	3,800	2,280	1,520		
B747-8	2D/2D2	978,000	300	180	120		
B787-8	2D	503,500	6,800	4,080	2,720		
B717	D	122,000	6,100	3,660	2,440		
B727-200	D	185,200	200	120	80		
B737 (300/400/500)	D	150,500	22,000	13,200	8,800		
B737 (700/800)	D	174,700	26,000	15,600	10,400		
B757-200	2D	256,000	41,000	24,600	16,400		
B767-300ER	2D	413,000	7,800	4,680	3,120		
B777-300ER	3D	777,000	3,300	1,980	1,320		
MD-11ER	2D/D1	633,000	1,200	720	480		
MD-83	D	161,000	700	420	280		
A319	D	150,800	12,000	7,200	4,800		
A320	D	172,800	19,000	11,400	7,600		
A321	D	181,200	5,500	3,300	2,200		
A300/310	2D	365,700	2,100	1,260	840		
A340-200	2D	515,600	800	480	320		
A380-800	2D/3D2	1,234,500	500	300	200		
		Totals	177,100	106,260	70,840		

Table 1 - Examples 1 and 2 Traffic



Construct the traffic file in COMFAA as follows:

- 1. Open COMFAA.
- 2. If an external traffic file (.ext) has not yet been created, then
 - a. Click the Open Aircraft Window box.
 - b. Add aircraft from the Aircraft Group. Note the Position to Insert Aircraft radial buttons.
 - c. Remove aircraft by clicking the <u>No.</u> and then the <u>Remove (Cut) the Selected Aircraft</u> box.
 - d. <u>Save the List as a New External File</u> with an appropriate name such as "Example 1A Rigid Pavement Runway 15/33".
- 3. If an external file exists, either:
 - a. Click Load Ext File from the main COMFAA screen, or
 - b. Click Open Aircraft Window and Open an External File
- 4. Using the Departures columns in Table 1, there should be separate files for each runway with the designated traffic numbers. Use one file for the rigid pavement analysis and the other for the flexible pavement analysis.
- 5. Save the traffic files with descriptive names.

Example 1A - Rigid Pavement Runway 15/33

Pavement Characteristics

Runway properties relevant to the analysis are shown in Table 2 for runway 15/33. This table contains FAA 5010 ratings, and the goal is to replace them with PCN's. There are many reasons for doing this, but the main one is that the FAA 5010 rating system does not allow for the determination of allowable gross weights such as the B777, MD-11 and A380 aircraft. Furthermore, neither runway is strong enough to accommodate the B747-8 aircraft at MTW, as indicated by the DDT ratings. Finally, there is no gross weight credit given to the 2D widebody aircraft such as the B767, B787 and A330. Each of these has superior landing gear characteristics as compared to the FAA standard DT gear, which should allow them to operate at a higher gross weight than as indicated by the DT rating. The PCN rating will fully determine the capability of these aircraft.

2011		
17	in.	P-501
6	in.	P-306
4,000,000	psi	
700	psi	
193	pci	
310	pci	Code B
20	years	
D200	DT400	DDT800
	2011 17 6 4,000,000 700 193 310 20 D200	2011 17 in. 6 in. 4,000,000 psi 700 psi 193 pci 310 pci 20 years D200 DT400

Table 2 - Example 1A Pavement Properties

* See discussion following on equivalent k calculation

For rigid pavement, the effective subgrade k-value can be improved if there are any superior base materials below the slab. This could include many types of stabilized layers such as P-401, P304, P-209, and also non-stabilized layers such as P-154. COMFAA works with only one layer of pavement on the subgrade, so these stabilizing layers must be converted to effective subgrade



strength, and this will be entered into COMFAA as the subgrade k-value. From the Standard support sheet under the Rigid Pavement k-value worksheet, Figure 1, enter the P-501 thickness, the P-306 thickness and the subgrade strength subgrade modulus, k. The P-501 slab flexural strength is also entered here, but it has no effect on the calculation of the effective k-value. The spreadsheet formulas will calculate an effective k-value of 310 pci, which is the value to enter into the COMFAA "k" location.

💽 🚽 🤊 - (" -) = 12-6Draftco	mfaa_supportVari	ableRreferen	ce.xls [(Compati	ibility Mode]	- Micro	os 🗕		x	
Home Insert Page Layout	Formulas [Data Revie	w Vi	ew	Get Started	Acroba	at 🕜 –		x	
D1 • fx	Existing Rigid P	avement La	yers						≈	
A	D	E	FG	Н			J		Ē	
Reference Guidance AC 150/5335-5B Appendiz A-2 Rigid BauementStructure Items	Existing Rigid	Existing Layer Thickness	т	Layer hickness, in	Improvedu	-uəlua				
Figure A2-7	ENTER P-401		. 7		improveuri	K-Value				
4	Uveriay(s)		IN.	17.0						
	ENTER P-501 ENTER P-501 Flex	 ▼ 17.0 	in. J		Foundation	k uslus				
6	Strength	🔽 700 p	si		= Masin	num				
7 Figure A2-6, howevr, FAA	ENTER P-401 and/or P-403	0.0	in.]		Improved I Belo	-value ¥				
8 thickness of 12 inches for these layers	ENTER P-306	÷ 6.0	in. }	<u>6.0</u>	<u>310</u>					
9	ENTER P-304	🖸 0.0 i	in. J							
10 Upper Graph in Figure A2-5, Use 10 maximum 14 inches for consistency.	ENTER P-209		in.] }-]	<u>0.0</u>	No Improv	ement				
11 Lower Graph in Figure A2-5, FAA	and/or P-208	0.0	in. 7	ì						
12 thickness of 14 inches for these layers	ENTER P-301	🖸 0.0 i	in. }	<u>0.0</u>	No Improv	ement	Format			
to be consistent with the figure.	ENTER P-154	➡ 0.0 i	in.]				Chart			
15	ENTER Subgrade k	÷ 193		6.0	310					
16 COMEAA Evoluction Criteria	🛞 Englist		P a	EXIB	ing Pavement	Equ Cost of T	Ivalent Paveme	nt SSSS	n	
17 COWFAA Evaluation Criteria								~~~		
19 Effective k-value = 310 lb/in^3	Enter Project Detail	1			P-501 flex trength =		P-501 flex strength =	88	l	
20 Evaluation Thickness t = 17.0 in.	AC 150/5335-5B Rigid P	avement Example	1i ¹⁰		700 psl.		700 psl.			
21 Evaluation Strength = 700 psi.	Effective subgrade k-val thickness is 17 inches, co	ue is 310 pci, slab oncrete modulus o	if g15							
22	rupture is 700 psi. Runwa taxiwan and fuel is obtain	ay has a parallel bed before departu	5.		D.300		Stabilized k=			
23 Recommended PCN Codes: R/B/W	The pavement life is esti	mated to be 20 yea					310			
			25	si si si si	ibgrade k= 193		Subgrade k= 193			
24			30							
25 Save Data		1								
26 Jave Data	Airport LOC-ID	Pavement ID	의 ~]							
	k Value Data	Darso / Flavi	ible Char	t / Ria	id Chart /			- b	4	
Ready	walue / Data	raise / riex	iole crial				U I			

Figure 1 - Example 1A Effective k-value

PCN Calculation of Runway 15/33

Ensure that the "PCA Thick" box is not checked in COMFAA. Although rigid ACN's are calculated using a variation of the PCA program, PCN's are determined by using an adaptation of the FAA edge loading method as found in AC 150/5320-6C/D.

After entering the traffic and pavement characteristics into COMFAA (as shown in Figure 2) and clicking the "PCN Rigid Batch" button, select the Details button when the calculation steps have



finished. Alternatively, open the file "PCN Results Rigid-date-time.txt". This file is generated by selecting the "Save PCN Output to a text file" box in Details before the PCN calculation.



Figure 2 - Example 1A COMFAA Input Screen

Initially the pavement and traffic characteristics are displayed as output, such as in Figure 3, along with the recommended subgrade category.

(🔋 ICAO ACN Computation, Detailed Output
	Unit Conversions Show Ext File Single Aircraft ACN Other Calculation Modes Other Calculation Modes Other Calculation Modes
	Save PCN Output to a Text File
	This file name = PCN Results Rigid 6-15-2012 10;49;19.txt Library file name = C:\Documents and Settings\pr621a\My Documents\How to calculate a PCN\Standard Example\Example IA - Rigid\Example 1.Ext Units = English Evaluation pavement type is rigid Equivalent coverages computed with the AC 150/5320-6C/D edge stress design method. Maximum gross weight computed with the AC 150/5320-6C/D edge stress design method.
	k Value = 310.0 lbs/in^3 (Subgrade Category is B(295)) flexural strength = 700.0 psi Evaluation pavement thickness = 17.00 in Pass to Traffic Cycle (PtoTC) Ratio = 1.00
	Maximum number of wheels per gear = 6 Maximum number of gears per aircraft = 4

Figure 3 - Example 1A Initial Rigid Pavement Output Details



Next the input traffic data is shown as Figure 4 (Table 1 in the Detailed Output). Note the value of the -6D thicknesses, which are those calculated individually for each model according to the methods in AC 150/5320-6D. These numbers have no relation to the PCN calculation and are only shown for comparison to the evaluation thickness. However, it is expected that each of these values will be less than the evaluation thickness for a properly designed pavement.

<mark>@</mark> 10	CAO ACN Computation,	, Detailed Outp	out									
Co	Unit Sho w nversions Alpha	Show Ext File	ngle Aircraft Al Flexible	CN Rigid	Other Calcu	lation Modes	C Thickne	ess C Life C MGW	<u>B</u> ack			
Save PCN Output to a Text File												
Res	dics fable 1. input	Cross	Dovernt	Time	Ammuna 1	20	CD.					
No	Dirgraft Nome	Weight	Cross Wt	Droce	Dens	Covereges	Thick					
	. AIICIAIC NAME	wergnc							_			
1	. B747-400ER	913.000	93.60	230.0	2,280	12,465	13.80					
2	B747-8	978,000	94.69	218.0	180	1,017	12.78					
3	B787-8	503,500	91.28	228.0	4,080	21,268	14.53					
4	B717-200 HGW	122,000	94.42	164.0	3,660	20,601	11.78					
5	B727-200 Basic	185,200	96.00	148.0	120	826	11.94					
e	B737-300/400/500	150,500	93.82	185.0	13,200	74,840	14.05					
7	B737-700/800	174,700	93.56	205.0	15,600	87,703	15.32					
6	B757-200	256,000	91.18	183.0	24,600	123,813	11.67					
9	9 B767-300 ER	413,000	92.40	200.0	4,680	25,623	13.10					
10) B777-300 ER	777,000	92.44	221.0	1,980	10,115	13.09					
11	. MD11ER	633,000	77.54	206.0	720	3,912	12.79					
12	1 MD 83	161,000	94.76	195.0	420	2,456	12.40					
13) A319-100 opt	150,800	91.40	200.1	7,200	36,771	13.08					
14	A320 Twin opt	172,800	92.80	208.9	11,400	61,448	14.70					
15	A321-100 std	181,200	95.60	197.3	3,300	19,011	14.14					
16	5 A300-B4 STD	365,700	94.00	216.1	1,260	6,911	12.03					
17	/ A340-200 opt	515,600	79.98	191.4	480	4,890	11.28					
18	A380-800 Body	1,234,500	57.08	218.0	300	1,412	11.20					
19) A380-800 Wing	1,234,500	38.05	218.0	300	1,570	[12.23]					

Figure 4 - Example 1A Results Table 1 Input Traffic Data

There are several purposes for the Results Table 2 shown in Figure 5. The primary function is to show the PCN of each aircraft as calculated by the CDF method. "Critical Aircraft Total Equivalent Coverages" shows the required coverages for failure as if it were the critical aircraft. These values are calculated by assuming that the aircraft in question is critical and folding in equivalent coverages of all the other aircraft according to AC 150/5335-5B CDF methodology described earlier. A complete explanation of this process is given in Appendix 1 of -5B.

"Thickness for Total Equivalent Coverages" shows the required thickness based on the previous column equivalent coverages and the aircraft gross weight. These thicknesses are calculated using AC 150/5320-6D edge stress rules. A relatively uniform range of calculated thicknesses, with values being a little less than the evaluation thickness of 17 inches, shows that this pavement is well designed for this traffic.

The "Maximum Allowable Gross Weight" for each aircraft shows the allowable gross weight based on the total equivalent coverages for that aircraft at the design thickness of 17 inches. This value is also calculated using -6D rules.



🛞 ic <i>i</i>	O ACN Computation	, Detailed Output											
Unit Show Show Ext File Single Aircraft ACN Other Calculation Modes Conversions Alpha Ext File Flexible © Rigid PCN © ACN Batch © Thickness © Life © MGW													
Save PCN Output to a Text File													
								<u>^</u>					
Resu No.	lts Table Z. PCN V Aircraft Name	Alues Critical Aircraft Total Equiv. Covs.	Thickness for Total Equiv. Covs.	Maximum Allowable Gross Weight	PCN on B(295)	CDF	ACN Thick at Max. Allowable Gross Weight						
1	B747-400ER	193,219	16.22	981,487	77.3	0.0265	15.24						
2	B747-8	102,889	16.19	1,051,668	83.8	0.0041	15.81						
3	B787-8	137,995	16.20	543,365	79.7	0.0634	15.45						
4	B717-200 HGW	>5,000,000	16.35	131,129	39.8	0.0008	11.21	_					
5	B727-200 Basic	334,431	16.24	202,173	58.6	0.0010	13.40						
6	B737-300/400/500	1,197,207	16.28	163,900	49.3	0.0257	12.37						
7	B737-700/800	Z49,830	16.23	191,439	57.7	0.1443	13.31	=					
8	B757-200 RD	>5,000,000	16.42	269,860	39.6	0.0003	11.17						
10	B767-300 KR	422 155	16.25	938 196		0.0076	15 92						
11	את 2000 את אתוותף	227 101	16.22	683 714	77 5	0.0071	15 25						
12	MD83	316,515	16.24	175,480	56.8	0.0032	13.21						
13	A319-100 opt	2,300,365	16.31	163,557	44.8	0.0066	11.84						
14	A320 Twin opt	374,142	16.24	188,080	54.4	0.0675	12.95						
15	A321-100 std	203,750	16.22	197,888	59.1	0.0384	13.45						
16	A300-B4 STD	1,449,570	16.29	391,686	63.2	0.0020	13.88						
17	A340-200 opt	3,613,310	16.32	561,002	54.1	0.0006	12.92						
18	A380-800 Body	1,804,677	16.30	1,333,041	76.2	0.0003	15.14						
19	A380-800 Wing	313,513	16.24	(1,336,239)	73.4	0.0021	14.88						
				Tets	al CDF =	0.4111	J						

Figure 5 - Example 1A Results Table 2 PCN Values

The next set of columns shows ACN's for each aircraft based on the values in the Maximum Allowable Gross Weight column, and they are relabeled PCN. Select the highest PCN from the PCN column of Figure 5, which is 97 RBWT for the 777-300ER in this example.

The column labeled "ACN Thick...." shows the required thickness for the standard subgrade category modulus (Rigid Code B, k=295 pci) at the maximum allowed gross weight for each individual aircraft. Although somewhat redundant, the greatest thickness corresponds with the highest PCN in the traffic mix.

With the Total CDF is being less than 1.000, indication is provided that the pavement can not only accommodate the evaluation traffic, but that it could handle more traffic until the total CDF limit of 1.000 is reached.

Although lower CDF values mean that these aircraft have lower impact on the pavement, the highest CDF does not necessarily determine the highest PCN. The lower CDF just indicates the relative importance of the aircraft to the PCN calculation.

Finally, there are two aircraft that show >5,000,000 "Critical Aircraft Total Equivalent Coverages" in the second column, meaning that these aircraft have very large equivalent coverage levels and correspondingly very low CDF contributions.

Results Table 4 from the Detailed Output, as seen in Figure 6, contains the comma separated data necessary to graphically show the PCN. Its main purpose is to enable graphical illustrations of the output data. Simply highlight the entire table, including the headings, and copy it to cell B5 in the Data Parse worksheet of the support spreadsheet (partially shown in Figure 7). The project title in cell B4, which will appear on the graphs, may also be changed at this time.



🛞 ICAO ACN Computation, Detailed Output	
Unit Conversions Show Ext File Flexible Rigid Other Calculation Modes © Flexible Rigid PCN CACN Batch O Thickness O Life O MGW Back	
Results Table 4. Summary Output for Copy and Paste Into the Support Spread Sheet	^
Num, Plane, GWin, ACNin, ADout, 6Dt, COV20yr, COVtoF, CDFt, GWedf, FCNedf, EVALt, SUBcode, KorCBR, PtoTC, FlexOrRig 1, B747-400ER, 913000.000, 69.8, 2280, 13.80, 1.246478+004, 4.70022E+005, 16.22, 981487.463, 77.3, 17.0, B, 310.00, 1.00, R 2, B747-8, 978000.000, 75.5, 180, 12.78, 1.01633E+003, 2.502878+005, 16.19, 1051668.355, 38.8, 17.0, B, 310.00, 1.00, R 3, B787-8, 503500.000, 71.5, 4080, 14.53, 2.12677B+004, 3.35686E+005, 16.20, 543365.388, 79.7, 17.0, B, 310.00, 1.00, R 4, B717-200 HGW, 122000.000, 96.5, 3660, 11.78, 2.06007B+004, 2.69232E+007, 16.35, 131128.589, 39.8, 17.0, B, 310.00, 1.00, R 5, B727-200 Basic, 185200.000, 52.7, 120, 11.94, 8.26050E+002, 8.13533E+005, 16.24, 202173.462, 58.6, 17.0, B, 310.00, 1.00, R 6, B737-300/400/500, 1550500.000, 44.5, 13200, 14.05, 7.48395E+004, 2.91232E+006, 16.28, 163900.002, 49.3, 17.0, B, 310.00, 1.00, R 6, B737-700/800, 174700.000, 51.7, 15600, 15.32, 8.77032E+004, 4.07734E+005, 16.22, 191439.227, 57.7, 17.0, B, 310.00, 1.00, R 8, B757-200, 256000.000, 36.7, 24600, 11.67, 1.23813E+005, 4.56782E+008, 16.42, 269859.714, 39.6, 17.0, B, 310.00, 1.00, R 9, B767-300 ER, 413000.000, 51.7, 14680, 13.10, 2.56229E+004, 3.36103E+006, 16.29, 444186.733, 63.7, 17.0, B, 310.00, 1.00, R 10, B7777000.000, 56.7, 724600, 11.67, 1.23813E+005, 16.22, 683713.754, 77.5, 17.0, B, 310.00, 1.00, R 9, B767-300 ER, 413000.000, 65.6, 720, 12.79, 3.91211E+003, 5.5248E+005, 16.22, 683713.754, 77.5, 17.0, B, 310.00, 1.00, R 11, MD11ER, 633000.000, 69.6, 720, 12.79, 3.91211E+003, 5.5248E+005, 16.22, 683713.754, 77.5, 17.0, B, 310.00, 1.00, R 12, MB83, 161000.000, 51.3, 420, 12.40, 2.45566E+003, 7.6995EH005, 16.24, 175480.441, 56.8, 17.0, B, 310.00, 1.00, R 13, A319-100 opt, 155800.000, 40.7, 7200, 13.08, 3.6707E+004, 4.55642E+005, 16.32, 158080.51, 54.4, 17.0, B, 310.00, 1.00, R 14, A320 Twin opt, 172800.000, 43.2, 3300, 14.14, 1.90115E+004, 4.95642E+005, 16.22, 197888.482, 59.1, 17.0, B, 310.00, 1.00, R 15, A321-100 std, 181200.000, 53.2, 3300, 14.14, 1.90115E+004, 4.95642E+005, 16.22, 197	

Figure 6 - Example 1A Results Table 4 Summary Output Data

0) 🖬 🤊 -	(ਘ - 10) =	12-6Drat	ftcomfaa_supportVaria	bleRreferer	nce.xls	[Compat	tibility	Mode] - N	/licrosoft E	xcel				x
	Home	Insert Pag	e Layout	Formulas Data	Review	Viev	v Ge	t Start	ed Acro	bat			0	- 🖻	x
	A5	- (*	f_x	Copy Entire Conte	nts of Sum	mary T	able (c	omm	a separate	ed data) ir	nto Ce	ell B5>			∻
		А	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J	K	L	М	
4	Type project	t in Cell B4>	Rigid C	Case 1											
Copy Entire Contents of Summary Table (comma separated data) into Cell			-	Summary	data	Pro	oject tit	tle							
5		B5>	Num	Plane	GVVin	ACNin	ADout	6Dt	COV20yr	COVtoF	CDFt	GWcdf	PCNcdf	EVALt	
6	Create	Create	10	B777-300 ER	777,000	85.7	1,980	13.1	1.01E+04	1.03E+06	16.3	838,196	97.1	17.0	-
	Flexible	Rigid	2	D707 0	978,000	75.5	180	12.0	1.02E+03	2.50E+05	16.2	1,051,008	03.0	17.0	-
0	Pavement	Pavement	3	D/0/-0	622,000	71.5	4,000	14.5	2.13E+04	3.30E+05	16.2	543,305 692 714	77.6	17.0	-
10	Charts	Charts	1	B747-400ER	913,000	69.8	2 280	13.8	1.25E+04	4 70E+05	16.2	981 / 87	77.3	17.0	-
11			18	A380-800 Body	1.234.500	67.6	300	11.2	1.41E+03	4.39E+06	16.3	1.333.041	76.2	17.0	-
12	12 19			A380-800 Wing	1,234,500	65.8	300	12.2	1.57E+03	7.63E+05	16.2	1,336,239	73.4	17.0	٠.
14 4	▶ N / Use	r / Layer Equiva	lency /	k Value Data Parse	Flexible	Chart /	Rigid C	hart	Form 50:	10 / 🞾				•	
Rea	dy	~							Count: 1	7 🖽 🛛 🛛	II 100	0% 😑	U	÷	

Figure 7 - Example 1A Data Parse Entry into Support Spreadsheet

Clicking the "Create Rigid Pavement Charts" box will generate one table and two graphs in the "Rigid Charts" worksheet. The table is identical to Figure 7, except that only the six most demanding aircraft in the traffic mix are repeated, and it is repeated graphically in the two charts.

Referring back to Figure 7, both the 6Dt (column G) and CDFt (column J) thickness requirements are seen in comparison to the evaluation thickness (column M). Comparison of the last two shows the expectation of pavement strength for the traffic mix. CDF thicknesses that are less than evaluation thicknesses indicate that the PCN will be sufficient for the aircraft. Conversely, CDF thicknesses that are greater than evaluation thicknesses are a sign that the pavement that will not be suitable for the traffic, at least for the period of time desired.





Figure 8 - Example 1A Thickness and Maximum Gross Weight

The "Maximum Allowable Aircraft Gross Weight from CDF" (line 4) is a precursor of the PCN calculation in that the PCN of each aircraft is simply the ACN at this weight. In this example these weights are greater than the input weights (line 5), indicating that each will have a PCN that exceeds its ACN.

The "Maximum Allowable Aircraft Gross Weight from CDF" in Figure 9 shows the graphic comparison of ACN and PCN for the six most demanding aircraft of the traffic mix. In addition, an important indication of the PCN validity for the pavement is seen by the annual departures line 3. If the highest PCN has very low departures, then the next lower PCN may be a better number. This is left to the engineer to decide.





Figure 9 – Example 1A ACN and PCN Comparison

Table 3 presents a comparison of allowable gross weights according to the FAA method and the PCN method (calculated using PCN 97.1 RB). Note that a number of models could not be rated with the FAA method, but are readily available by using the PCN results.

Aircraft	MTW	D200	DT400	DDT800	PCN 97 RB
	(1000 lb)				
B777-300ER	777				839
B747-8	978			800	1,165
B787-8	504		400		625
B727-200	186	200			312
MD-11	633				802
B747-400ER	913			800	1.155
A380 Body	1,234				1,563

 Table 3 - Example 1A Allowable Gross Weights



Example 1B - Reducing the Modulus of Rupture

Pavement Characteristics

Runway properties relevant to the analysis are shown in Table 4 for runway 15/33, but the Modulus of Rupture is reduced from 700 to 650 psi. The purpose of this example is to show the sensitivity of PCN to one of the pavement parameters.

Construction date:	2011		
PCC depth	17	in.	P-501
Base	6	in.	P-306
PCC Modulus Elasticity	4,000,000	psi	
Modulus of Rupture	650	psi	
Subgrade k	193	pci	
Effective k	310	pci	Code B
Design life	20	years	
FAA 5010 rating	D200	DT400	DDT800

Table 4 - Example 1B Pavement Properties

With the same traffic as in Example 1A, Figure 10 shows that the PCN is reduced from 97 RB to 84 RB, while the critical aircraft ACN remains at 86 RB. There are two other indications that the pavement is overloaded. The first is that the thickness for total equivalent coverages exceeds the design thickness of 17.0 inches. The second is that the total CDF is greater than 1.00.

Examination of the graphic results of Figure 11 shows the relation between ACN and PCN for the six most demanding aircraft. If the M_R was at 665 psi rather than 650, the runway could be rated at PCN 87 RBWT, which would be greater than the highest ACN (not shown here).

PCN is obviously very sensitive to M_R , and it is seen that accurate measurement of pavement parameters is very important.



6) ICA	O ACN Computation	, Detailed Output							
Unit Show Conversions Alpha		Jnit Show versions Alpha	Show Ext File	craft ACN ble 💿 Rigid	Other Calculation Modes					
					🔲 Save PCN Ou	tput to a T	ext File			
	D	les Table 2 DON 1	II- 1						^	
ľ	kesu.	its lable 2. PCN .	Critical	Thiskness	Wanimum			ACM Thigh of		
			birgraft Total	for Total	Allowable	PCM on		May Allowable		
	No.	Aircraft Name	Rouiv. Covs.	Remain. Cows.	Gross Weight	B(295)	CDF	Gross Weight		
	1	B747-400ER	164,002	(17.16	899,721	68.4	0.0899	14.39		
	2	B747-8	86,763	17.16	963,881	74.0	0.0139	14.93		
	з	B787-8	123,379	17.16	495,955	70.0	0.2038	14.55		
	4	B717-200 HGW	>5,000,000	17.13	120,305	35.9	0.0026	10.69		
	5	B727-200 Basic	343,712	17.15	182,060	51.7	0.0028	12.64		
	6	B737-300/400/500	1,235,713	17.14	148,055	43.7	0.0716	11.70		
	7	B737-700/800	278,009	17.15	171,656	50.7	0.3730	12.53		
	8	B757-200	>5,000,000	17.12	253,238	36.1	0.0014	10.71		
	9	B767-300 ER	1,128,015	17.14	407,681	56.4	0.0269	13.16	_	
	10	B777-300 ER	356,157	17.15	765,724	83.7	0.0336	15.80		
	11	MD11ER	190,966	17.16	623,651	68.1	0.0242	14.37		
	12	MD83	332,886	17.15	158,292	50.2	0.0087	12.48		
	13	A319-100 opt	2,228,850	17.14	148,541	40.0	0.0195	11.23		
	14	A320 Twin opt	383,507	17.15	169,962	48.3	0.1895	12.25		
	15	A321-100 std	216,090	17.16	178,086	52.1	0.1040	12.69		
	16	A300-B4 STD	1,102,625	17.14	361,164	56.3	0.0074	13.16		
	17	A340-200 opt	3,177,439	17.14	507,434	47.5	0.0018	12.16		
	10	A380-800 Body	1,467,468	17.14	1,215,944	66.I	0.0011	14.17		
	19	A380-800 wing	277,447		1,216,312	64.5 1 CDR -	1 1025	14.01		
					Iota.	I CDF =	(I. 1825	J		

Figure 10 - Example 1B Results Table 2 PCN Values



Figure 11 - Example 1B ACN and PCN Comparison

BOEING

Example 1C - Reducing the Thickness

Pavement Characteristics

In this case the Modulus of Rupture is retained at 700 psi, but the thickness is reduced to 16 inches. Refer to Table 4 for the characteristics.

It is readily apparent from Figure 12 that the reduction in thickness of one inch has about the same effect as the reduction in the Modulus of Rupture from 700 to 650 psi in the previous example. Not only is the pavement overloaded as indicated by the inadequate PCN, but the total CDF being greater than one supports this conclusion.

These examples show the importance of verifying that the pavement parameters are correct. Similar variations may be seen for rigid pavement when other properties such as effective subgrade modulus are considered; however, errors in the traffic count are not nearly as pronounced. Although it might be acceptable to the airport authority to allow these operations, it will lead to reduced life or require increased maintenance.



Figure 12 - Example 1C Results Table 2 PCN Values

BOEING

Example 2 - Flexible Pavement

Annual Traffic

The average annual traffic is contained in Table 1 for this runway.

Example 2A - Flexible Pavement Runway 11/29

Pavement Characteristics

Runway properties relevant to the analysis are shown in Table 5 for runway 11/29. This table contains FAA 5010 ratings, and the goal is to replace them with PCN's. This runway is classified as flexible, so there are a number of procedures required that are different from rigid pavement runways. While analysis of rigid pavement allowed modification of the subgrade modulus, in flexible pavement the evaluation thickness is altered.

Overlay date:	1999		
Construction date:	1983		
Surface thickness	6	in.	P-401
Base	10	in.	P-209
Subbase	15	in.	P-154
Evaluation thickness	33	in.	
CBR	9		Code B
Remaining life	8	years	
FAA 5010 rating	D180	DT300	DDT650

 Table 5 - Example 2A Pavement Properties

Evaluation Thickness

The thickness of the flexible pavement section under consideration must be referenced to a standard flexible pavement section for evaluation purposes. If the pavement has excess or improved materials, the total pavement thickness may be adjusted according to the methods expressed in AC 150/5320-6D. Whereas in rigid pavement the subgrade modulus was adjusted, flexible pavement analysis requires that the reference thickness conform to rules developed from FAA and Corps of Engineers field testing.

The standard section is the total thickness requirement as calculated by the support spreadsheet, assuming minimum layer thickness for the asphalt surface, minimum base layer thickness of material and a variable thickness subbase layer. Two reference pavement sections are used according to the criteria of Table 6.

Table 6 - FAA Flexible Pavement Reference Layer Thickness

Structural Layer	Less than Four Wheels on Main Gear	Four or More Wheels on any Main Gear
Asphaltic Concrete (P-401)	3	5
High Quality Granular Base (P-209)	6	8

When no aircraft in the traffic mix have four or more wheels on a main gear, the minimum asphalt surface course thickness requirement is 3 inches and the minimum high quality crushed aggregate base course thickness requirement is 6 inches. When one or more aircraft in the traffic



mix have four or more wheels on a main gear, the minimum asphalt surface course thickness requirement is 5 inches and the minimum high quality crushed aggregate base course thickness requirement is 8 inches. Reference thicknesses can be changed in cells B30 and B31 of the support spreadsheet (discussed later).

When there is not sufficient material to obtain the surface course thickness of 3 or 5 inches and/or the standard crushed aggregate base course thickness of 6 or 8 inches, the subbase thickness is reduced by using a slightly more conservative inverse of the layer equivalency factor for surface course material. In this situation, refer to the instructions in AC 150/5335-5B, Table A2-1.

Recommended equivalency factors for adjusting the thickness are shown in Table 7. Ranges of equivalency factors are shown rather than single values since variations in the quality of materials, construction techniques, and control can influence the equivalency factor.

Structural Item	Description	Range Convert	Recommended Convert to P-209	Range Convert to P-154	Recommended Convert to P-154
P-501	Portland Cement Concrete (PCC)				
P-401	Plant Mix Bituminous Pavements (HMA)	1.2 to 1.6	1.6	1.7 to 2.3	2.3
P-403	Plant Mix Bituminous Pavements (HMA)	1.2 to 1.6	1.6	1.7 to 2.3	2.3
P-306	Econocrete Subbase Course (ESC)	1.2 to 1.6	1.2	1.6 to 2.3	1.6
P-304	Cement Treated Base Course (CTB)	1.2 to 1.6	1.2	1.6 to 2.3	1.6
P-212	Shell Base Course				
P-213	Sand-Clay Base Course				
P-220	Caliche Base Course				
P-209	Crushed Aggregate Base Course	1.0	1.0	1.2 to 1.6	1.4
P-208	Aggregate Base Course	1.0	1.0	1.0 to 1.5	1.2
P-211	Lime Rock Base Course	1.0	1.0	1.0 to 1.5	1.2
P-301	Soil-Cement Base Course	n/a		1.0 to 1.5	1.2
P-154	Subbase Course	n/a		1.0	1.0
P-501	Portland Cement Concrete (PCC)	Range Conv	rert to P-401 2.2 to 2	2.5, Recommen	nded 2.5

Table 7 - FAA Flexible Pavement Equivalency Factors

In the selection of equivalency factors, consideration should be given to the traffic using the pavement, total pavement thickness, and the thickness of the individual layer. For example, a thin layer in a pavement structure subjected to heavy loads spread over large areas will result in an equivalency factor near the low end of the range. Conversely, light loads on thick layers will

Deing

call for equivalency factors near the upper end of the ranges. Notwithstanding, the recommended values are sufficient for most applications. Note that Items P-212, P-213, and P-220 have no equivalency factors listed, as they do not appear in the FAA equivalency spreadsheet.

The support spreadsheet of Figure 13 details the process of calculating the evaluation thickness. The P-401 layer in cell G6 of the excess is converted to P-209. Likewise, the excess amount of P-209 in cell G9 is converted to P-154.

		12-6[Draftcomfaa_sup	portVaria	bleRrefer	ence - 1	L.xls [Co	mpatibi	lity Mo	de] - M	icrosoft	Excel	-	. = x
	Home Insert	Page Layou	it Formulas	Data	Review	Vie	w Ge	t Started	I A	crobat			0	- • >
	A12 -	(• <i>f</i>	* P-154											3
	A	B	D	F		6 H	1 1	J	К	L	М	N	0	P
6	P-401 and/or P-403	1.5	2.2	ENTER P-	401 🔺 403 👻	6.0 1	16	16	0.0	0.0	8.0	10	23	
Ť	i ior and or i ioo	1.3	1.6		· ·				0.0	0.0			2.0	
7	P-306	1.5 1.4	18 1.8	ENTER P-	306 💌	0.0 ii	0.0	1.6	0.0	0.0	8.0	0.0	0.0	
8	P-304	1.5 1.4	1.7	ENTER P-	304 💌	0.0 ii	0.0	1.6	0.0	0.0	8.0	0.0	0.0	
	D 300	10	12		200	10.0	10.0		2.6	5.0		2.0	2.0	
9	P-209	1.0			203	10.0	10.0	0.0	3.0	5.0	0.0	2.0	2.0	
10	P-208 and/or P-211	1.0	1.2 1.0	and/or P-	211	0.0 ii	0.0	8.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	
11	P 304	n/a			301 -	0.0	n/a	n/a	0.0	0.0	nla	0.0	0.0	
	F-301	11/4	1.4			0.0	i ii/a	11/a	0.0	0.0	Ti/d	0.0	0.0	
12	P-154	n/a	1.0	ENTER P-	154 🔳	15.0 ii	n/a	n/a	15.0	15.0	n/a	15.0	15.0	Format Chart
13			ENTER	Subarade (BD	0.0		1 8.0		20.0	<< mag P	-154 t >>	20.1	
14	Equivalent Thickness, in	1.	CHICK	Subgrade (5.0	Zero All			victing Pa				
15		5.0		Equip testal		22.1				AISUNU Fav	rement	Equi	ivalent Pav	rement
16	P-401 and/or P-403	5.0	"P-154 converted to F	Equivitotal P-401 if P-401<	min	33.1	0		° 1	P-401	rement	Equi	P-401	rement
16	P-401 and/or P-403 P-209 P-154	5.0 8.0 20.1	"P-154 converted to F and/or converted to F	Equiv total P-401 if P-401< P-209 if P-209< 1	min :min	33.1 · 0.0	0		5	P-401	ement	Equi	P-401	ement
16 17 18	P-401 and/or P-403 P-209 P-154 Total	5.0 8.0 <u>20.1</u> 33.1	""P-154 converted to F and/or converted to F	Equiv total P-401 if P-401< P-209 if P-209< P-209 if P-209< I	min :min Fotal etails	33.1 0.0 31.0	0	1	0 5 0	P-401	ement	Equi	P-401 P-209	ement
16 17 18 19	P-401 and/or P-403 P-209 P-154 Total COMFAA Evaluation	5.0 8.0 <u>20.1</u> 33.1 Criteria	"P-154 converted to I and/or converted to P	Equiv total P-401 if P-401k P-209 if P-209k Project Do Flexible Pa	min min Fotal etails vement Exa	33.1 0.0 31.0 imple 2A	0		0 5 0 5 5	P-401 P-209	ement	Equi	P-401 P-209	
16 17 18 19 20	P-401 and/or P-403 P-209 P-154 Total COMFAA Evaluation Evaluation thickness	5.0 8.0 <u>20.1</u> 33.1 <u>Criteria</u> <u>t = 33.1 in</u>	**P-154 converted to I and/or converted to P	Equiv total P-401 if P-401< 2-209 if P-209< Project Do Flexible Pa Subgrade thickness i	min Fotal etails vement Exa CBR is 9, ba is 10 inches	33.1 0.0 31.0 mple 2A ase court s, and su	0 se bbase	1º - Suface in .		P-401 P-209	rement	Equi	P-401 P-209	
16 17 18 19 20 21	P-401 and/or P-403 P-209 <u>P-154</u> Total <u>COMFAA Evaluation</u> <u>Evaluation thickness</u> <u>Evaluation CBR = 9.</u>	5.0 8.0 <u>20.1</u> 33.1 <u>Criteria</u> t = 33.1 in <u>0</u>	"P-154 converted to I and/or converted to F	Equiv total P-401 if P-401k >-209 if P-209k Project Du Flexible Pa Subgrade thickness i before der	min Fotal etails vement Exa CBR is 9, ba is 10 inches is 15 inches safure Bu	33.1 0.0 31.0 imple 2A ase court s, and su s. Fuel is	o se bbase obtained	from Surface, in.		P-401 P-209 P-154	-ement	Equi	P-401 P-209 P-154	
16 17 18 19 20 21	P-401 and/or P-403 P-209 P-154 Total COMFAA Evaluation Evaluation thickness Evaluation CBR = 9.1 Recommended PCN	5.0 8.0 <u>20.1</u> 33.1 <u>Criteria</u> <u>t = 33.1 in</u> 0 <u>Codes: F/B/</u>	"P-154 converted to I and/or converted to P <u>N or</u>	Equivitotal P-401if P-401k 2-209 if P-209k Project D Flexible Pa Subgrade thickness i before dep parallel tax	min Fotal etails vement Exa CBR is 9, ba is 10 inches is 15 inches parture. Rui tiway. The	33.1 0.0 31.0 imple 2A ase cour s, and su s. Fuel is nway ha pavemen	o se bbase obtained s a nt life is)epth from Surface, in.		P-401 P-209 P-154			P-401 P-209 P-154	
16 17 18 19 20 21 21	P-401 and/or P-403 P-209 P-154 Total COMFAA Evaluation Evaluation thickness Evaluation CBR = 9. Recommended PCN Recommended PCN	5.0 8.0 <u>20.1</u> 33.1 <u>Criteria</u> <u>t = 33.1 in</u> <u>0</u> <u>Codes: F/B/0</u> <u>Codes: F/B/0</u>	"P-154 converted to I and/or converted to P <u>N or</u> <u>K</u>	Equivitotal P-401if P-401k 2-209 if P-209k Project Do Flexible Pa Subgrade thickness i before dep parallel tax estimated t	min Total etails vement Exa CBR is 9, ba is 10 inches is 15 inches barture. Rui tiway. The to be 20 yea	33.1 0.0 31.0 mple 2A ase cour a, and su a. Fuel is nway ha pavemer ars.	o se bbase obtained s a nt life is	Depthfrom Sufface, in.		P-401 P-209 P-154	ement	Equi	P-401	
16 17 18 19 20 21 22	P-401 and/or P-403 P-209 P-154 Total COMFAA Evaluation Evaluation thickness Evaluation CBR = 9.1 Recommended PCN Recommended PCN	5.0 8.0 <u>20.1</u> 33.1 <u>Criteria</u> <u>t = 33.1 in</u> <u>0</u> Codes: F/B/N Codes: F/B/N	"P-154 converted to I and/or converted to F <u>N or</u> <u>Save</u>	Equivital P-401 if P-401k 2-209 if P-209k Flexible Pa Subgrade thickness i before dep parallel tax estimated t Airport LU	min rotal etails vement Exa CBR is 9, bi is 10 inches is 15 inches is 15 inches is 15 inches output is 20 year OC- Device	33.1 0.0 31.0 mmple 2A ase cour as, and su as. Fuel is nway ha pavemer ars.	o se bbase obtained s a tt life is	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		P-401 P-209 P-154 Subgra CBR 9.	Je 0		P-209 P-209 P-154	ement
16 17 18 19 20 21 21 22 23 26	P-401 and/or P-403 P-209 P-154 Total COMFAA Evaluation Evaluation thickness Evaluation CBR = 9.0 Recommended PCN Recommended PCN	5.0 8.0 <u>20.1</u> 33.1 <u>Criteria</u> <u>t = 33.1 in</u> <u>0</u> <u>Codes: F/B/2</u> <u>Codes: F/B/2</u>	"P-154 converted to I and/or converted to F <u>V or</u> <u>X</u> Save Data	Equivital P-401 if P-4014 2-209 if P-2034 Flexible Pa Subgrade thickness i before dep parallel tax estimated fl Airport Lt ID	min	33.1 0.0 31.0 31.0 31.0 31.0 31.0 31.0 3	o se bbase obtained s a tt life is	11 11 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 11 11		P-401 P-401 P-209 P-154 Subgra CBR 9.	je 0		P-401 P-209 P-154 Subgrad CBR 9.0	e
16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 26 29	P-401 and/or P-403 P-209 P-154 Total COMFAA Evaluation Evaluation thickness Evaluation CBR = 9.1 Recommended PCN Recommended PCN	5.0 8.0 <u>20.1</u> 33.1 <u>Criteria</u> <u>t = 33.1 in</u> <u>0</u> <u>Codes: F/B/</u> <u>Codes: F/B/</u>	"P-154 converted to I and/or converted to F <u>N or</u> <u>Save</u> Data	Equivital P-401 if P-4014 2-209 if P-2034 Flexible Pa Subgrade thickness i thickness i before dep parallel tax estimated Airport Li	min min fotal etails vement Exa CBR is 9, bi is 10 inches is 15 inches ob 20 yea OC- Pave 1	33.1 0.0 31.0 mmple 2A ase courr s, and su s. Fuel is nway ha pavement ars. ment ID 1/29	se bbase obtained s a it life is	11 11 12 12 12 13 11 12 12 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11		P-401 P-209 P-154 Subgra CBR 9.	Je 0		P-401 P-203 P-154 Subgrad CBR 9.0	e
16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 26 29 30	P-401 and/or P-403 P-209 P-154 Total COMFAA Evaluation Evaluation thickness Evaluation CBR = 9. Recommended PCN Recommended PCN Reference Section P-401, inches	5.0 8.0 20.1 33.1 <u>Criteria</u> <u>t = 33.1 in</u> 0 <u>Codes: F/B/2</u> Codes: F/B/2 Requirem 5	"P-154 converted to I and/or converted to P <u>V or</u> Save Data ents	Equiv total P-401 if P-401k 2-209 if P-209k Project D Flexible Pa Subgrade thickness i thickness i thickness i before dep parallel tax estimated fl Airport LU	min Fotal etails vement Exa CBR is 9, bi is 10 inches is 15 inches is 15 inches arture. Ru tiway. The to be 20 yer OC- Pave 1	33.1 0.0 31.0 imple 2A ase court a, and su a. Fuel is nway ha pavemer ars. <u>ment ID</u> 1/29	se bbase obtained s a nt life is	11 11 11 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 1		P-401 P-209 P-209 P-154 Subgra CBR 9.	Je 0		P-401 P-209 P-154 Subgrad CBR 9.0	e
16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 26 29 30 31	P-401 and/or P-403 P-209 P-154 Total COMFAA Evaluation Evaluation thickness Evaluation CBR = 9. Recommended PCN Recommended PCN Reference Section P-401, inches P-209, inches	5.0 8.0 <u>20.1</u> 33.1 <u>Criteria</u> <u>t = 33.1 in</u> <u>0</u> <u>Codes: F/B/2</u> <u>Codes: F/B/2</u> Requirem 5 8	"P-154 converted to I and/or converted to P <u>N or</u> Save Data ents	Equiv total P-401 if P-4014 2-209 if P-2094 Project DU Flexible Pa Subgrade thickness i thickness i thi thickness i thickness i thickness	min Fotal etails vement Exa CBR is 9, bri is 10 inches is 10 inches is 15 inches is 15 inches is 15 inches is 15 inches is 15 inches is 10 inches is	33.1 0.0 31.0 31.0 31.0 31.0 31.0 31.0 3	se bbase obtained s a nt life is	11 11 12 12 12 13 13 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14		P-401 P-209 P-154 Subgra CBR 9.	de 0		P-401 P-209 P-154 Subgrad CBR 9.0	e e
16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 26 29 30 31 1 14	P-401 and/or P-403 P-209 P-154 Total COMFAA Evaluation Evaluation thickness Evaluation CBR = 9.1 Recommended PCN Recommended PCN Recommended PCN Reference Section P-401, inches P-209, inches	5.0 8.0 <u>20.1</u> 33.1 <u>Criteria</u> <u>t = 33.1 in</u> <u>0</u> <u>Codes: F/B/V</u> <u>Codes: F/B/V</u> Requirem 5 8 <u>User</u> Layer	"P-154 converted to I and/or converted to F <u>N or</u> Save Data ents	Equiv total P-401 if P-401k 2-209 if P-209k Flexible Pa Subgrade thickness i before dep parallel tax estimated fl Airport Lu ID	min min fotal etails vement Exa CBR is 9, bi is 10 inches is 10 inches is 10 inches is 15 inches parture. Ru tio be 20 yer OC- Pave 1 Data Pars	33.1 0.0 31.0 31.0 31.0 31.0 31.0 31.0 3	se bbase obtained s a tt life is exible Ch	11 11 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12	0	P-209 P-209 P-154 Subgra CBR 9.	Je 0 orm (1 4		P-401 P-209 P-154 Subgrad CBR 9.0	e

Figure 13 - Example 2A Pavement Layer Equivalency



Here is how the evaluation thickness is calculated with a standard layer thickness for four or more wheels:

1					
(P-401	6.0" – 5.0"	=	1.0" excess material	
		1.0" x 1.6	=	1.6" to be added to P-209	
	P-209	10.0" - 8.0"	=	2.0" excess material	
		2.0" x 1.4	=	2.8" to be added to P-154	
		1.6" x 1.4	=	2.2" to be added to P-154	
	P-154		= 1	5.0"	
	Evaluation	n Thickness	=	5.0"+ 8.0" + 2.8" + 2.2" + 15.0" = 33.0"	

Note that the thickness calculated in the support spreadsheet is slightly greater than as calculated manually. This is due to the total calculation being based on "subgrade up" rather than the more conventional "surface down" conversion as in cells L14 and O14. The FAA does not reference this method in the pavement design advisory circulars, but since it is in the FAA-supplied spreadsheet, it should be followed if it is significantly different. In this case, the 0.1 inch difference will be ignored for the PCN calculation.

PCN Calculation of Runway 11/29

After entering the traffic of Table 1 and the pavement characteristics of Table 5 into COMFAA (as shown in Figure 14), click the Details button when the calculation steps have finished.

Initially the pavement and traffic characteristics are displayed as output, such as in Figure 15, along with the recommended subgrade category.

Next, the input traffic data is shown as Figure 16 (Table 1 in the Details). Note the value of the 6D thicknesses, which are those calculated individually for each model according to the methods in AC 150/5320-6D. These numbers have no relation to the PCN calculation and are only shown for comparison to the evaluation thickness. However, it is expected that each of these values will be less than the evaluation thickness for a properly designed pavement.



😔 COMFAA 3.0, August 26, 3	2011 calculate a PCN\	Standard Exa	ample\	Examp	le 2A - Fle	xible\Exar	nple 2A.Ex	t	
	X = 79.7 in		Y =	-69.3 i	in		– E di	Wheels	
Aircraft Group		B747-4	NNER						
Generic		Main Gear	Footo	rint				Add	<u>R</u> emove
Airbus	100 ₁		ιοοφ	· · · · ·					
Boeing								Select	Move
McDonnell Douglas Other Commercial	90-								<u> </u>
General Aviation			i i				- Lib	aru Euneti	0.0%
Military	80-		1					any Function	Caus Eut
External Library	70							File	File
Library Aircraft	70-								
B747-400ER	60-							Add	Remove
B747-8	A						-	ircraft	Aircraft
8787-8 8717-200 HGW	C 50-)						0.5.0 1
B727-200 Basic	N	┼┼┼┼┼┍┓╴					L L	pen Aircra	aft Window
B737-300/400/500	40-						Mia	ممالعهممي	Functions
B737-700/800							MIS	cellaneous	s Functions
B757-200 B767-300 FB	30-			_			<u> </u>	etails	E <u>x</u> it
B777-300 ER	20						<u></u>		
MD11ER	207		i i					Halp	About
MD83	10-							Ueih	ADUUL
A319-100 opt A320 Twin opt				-			0-1		
A321-100 std							- Upi	ions	
A300-B4 STD	D	С	В		A			Batch 🛛	PCA Thick
A340-200 opt		Subgrade	Catego	ry				Metric 🗆	PCA MGW
A380-800 Body A380-800 Wing		012.000	C						- arman
need ood ning	2 Gut on Main Goard	313,000	Lom	putatio	nal Mode				
	No Main Gears	33.00		DON	Floviblo			uid 📗	
	Wheels on Main Gear	4			-T-L				MORE >>>
	Tire Pressure (nsi)	230.0		В	atch		Batch		
	Alpha Used	0.000							
	Pass/Traffic Cycle (P/TC)	1 00	SG	CBR	Flex t, in	ACN Flex	k, Ibs/in^:	3 Rigt, i	n ACN Rig
	Annual Departures	1.520							
	Flex 20vr Covs, P/C = 1.83	16.620							
Critical Aircraft	Rig 20yr Covs, P/C = 3.66	8,310							
I	Rigid Cutoff (times rrs)	5.00		9.00			0.0		
Flexible Computation Finished	Concrete Flex. Str. (psi)	650.0	E	valuatio	n Thickne	ss = 33 00	1	Stress =	
	,	. '		aladite	an Thiokhe	·· - JJJ.00		00000 -	

Figure 14 - Example 2A COMFAA Input Screen

💿 ICAO ACN Computation, Detailed Output	
Unit Conversions Show Ext File Single Aircraft ACN Other Calculation Modes Other Calculation Modes Other Calculation Modes	ick
This file name = PCN Results Flexible 2-15-2012 12;48;20.txt	~
Library file name = C:\Documents and Settings\pr62la\My Documents\How to calculate a PCN\Standard	E
Example\Example 2 - Flexible\Example 2A.Ext	_
Realuation navement type is flexible and design procedure is CBR	
Alpha Values are those approved by the ICAO in 2007.	
CBR = 9.00 (Subgrade Category is B)	
Evaluation pavement thickness = 33.00 in	
Pass to Traffic Cycle (PtoTC) Ratio = 1.00	
Maximum number of wheels per gear = 6	
Maximum number of gears per aircraft = 4	
At least one aircraft has 4 or more wheels per gear. The FAA recommends a reference section assuming	
5 inches of HMA and 8 inches of crushed aggregate for equivalent thickness calculations.	~

Figure 15 - Example 2A Initial Flexible Pavement Output Details



6	D ICA	😔 ICAO ACN Computation, Detailed Output										
	l Conv	Jnit Show ersions Alpha	Show Ext File	gle Aircraft AC Flexible	N Rigid	Other Calcula	ation Modes	C Thickne	ss 🔿 Life 🤇			
						Save PC	CN Output to a	Text File				
	Resu	lts Table 1. Input	: Traffic Data						<u>^</u>			
			Gross	Percent	Tire	Annual	20-yr	6D				
	No.	Aircraft Name	Weight	Gross Wt	Press	Deps	Coverages	Thick				
	1	B747-400ER	913,000	93.60	230.0	1,520	16,620	30.23	=			
	2	B747-8	978,000	94.69	218.0	120	1,356	26.74				
	з	B787-8	503,500	91.28	228.0	2,720	28,357	31.68	_			
	4	B717-200 HGW	122,000	94.42	164.0	2,440	13,734	21.51				
	5	B727-200 Basic	185,200	96.00	148.0	80	551	19.77				
	6	B737-300/400/500	150,500	93.82	185.0	8,800	49,893	25.48				
	7	B737-700/800	174,700	93.56	205.0	10,400	58,469	27.48				
	8	B757-200	256,000	91.18	183.0	16,400	165,084	24.02				
	9	B767-300 ER	413,000	92.40	200.0	3,120	34,164	28.82				
	10	B777-300 ER	777,000	92.44	221.0	1,320	20,229	32.16				
	11	MD11ER	633,000	77.54	206.0	480	5,216	29.16				
	12	MD83	161,000	94.76	195.0	280	1,637	21.44				
	13	A319-100 opt	150,800	91.40	200.1	4,800	24,514	23.08				
	14	A320 Twin opt	172,800	92.80	208.9	7,600	40,966	26.16				
	15	A321-100 std	181,200	95.60	197.3	2,200	12,674	25.49				
	16	A300-B4 STD	365,700	94.00	216.1	840	9,215	26.38				
	17	A340-200 opt	515,600	79.98	191.4	320	3,260	24.36				
	18	A380-800 Body	1,258,850	57.08	218.0	200	2,839	27.67				
	19	A380-800 Wing	1,234,500	38.05	218.0	200	2,094	26.52				

Figure 16 - Example 2A Results Table 1 Input Traffic Data

The 777-300ER has the highest PCN of 70.5 FB, which is shown in the table of Figure 17. Further examination of this table reveals that the pavement is overloaded by several criteria. The first indication is in the fourth column labeled "Thickness for Total Equivalent Coverages" in which virtually all aircraft require more than the equivalent thickness of 33.0 inches. However, with thicknesses being near the evaluation thickness of 33.0 inches, this pavement could also be considered marginally capable for the traffic.

The second indication is in the last column that shows a total CDF greater than 1.0000 at 1.1845. Although the program has calculated a range of PCN values, with the total CDF above 1.00, further engineering work needs to be done. Solutions are discussed at the end of this example.

Table 3 of the COMFAA detailed output contains the comma separated data necessary to graphically show the PCN. Its main purpose is to provide data for graphical illustrations of the output. As was done for previous examples, highlight the entire table, including the title line, and paste into cell B5 in the Data Parse worksheet of the support spreadsheet. These tables not shown here since the process is the same as that already delineated.



<mark>@</mark> 1	CAO ACN Computati	on, Detailed Output							
Unit Show Alpha Show Ext File Single Aircraft ACN Flexible C Rigid				Other Calculation Modes • PCN C ACN Batch C Thickness C Life C MGW					
				🔲 Save PCN Ou	tput to a T	ext File			
								^	
Re:	sults Table 2. PCM	I Values Critical	Thickness	Mevimum			ACN Thick at		
		Aircraft Total	for Total	Allowable	PCN on		Max. Allowable		
N	o. Aircraft Name	Equiv. Covs.	Equiv. Covs.	Gross Weight	B(10)	CDF	Gross Weight		
;		106 770			 62 6	0 1420			
	2 B747-900AK	42 162	33.25	967 868	62.6	0.1435	27.03		
	3 B787-8	85 275	33 22	498 917	65.3	0.0001	27 60		
	4 B717-200 HGW	>5.000.000	33.03	121,806	32.4	0.0000	19.46		
	5 B727-200 Basic	2,414,642	33.17	183,620	47.7	0.0003	23.61		
	6 B737-300/400/50	0 >5,000,000	33.10	149,773	39.0	0.0003	21.34	=	
	7 B737-700/800	>5,000,000	33.15	173,442	44.9	0.0088	22.87	=	
1	8 B757-200	>5,000,000	29.68	293,625	40.0	0.0000	21.60		
1 3	9 B767-300 ER	2,545,085	33.13	410,967	_ 53_5 _	0.0159	25.00		
10	0 B777-300 ER	51,013	33.17	771,742	70.5	0.4697	28.68		
1.	1 MD11ER	69,454	33.22	626,980	66.9	0.0890	27.95		
13	2 MD83	>5,000,000	33.14	159,869	45.5	0.0002	23.05		
1:	3 A319-100 opt	>5,000,000	33.06	150,344	35.3	0.0000	20.30		
14	4 A320 Twin opt	>5,000,000	33.13	171,735	42.5	0.0019	22.28		
1.	5 A321-100 std	4,397,400	33.16	179,797	46.2	0.0034	23.22		
10	6 A300-B4 STD	>5,000,000	33.11	364,092	51.2	0.0021	24.44		
	7 A340-200 opt	>5,000,000	33.06	514,300	49.9	0.0000	Z4.14		
	a voor-soo maaa	925,679	33.09	1,254,437	63.I 62.0	0.0036	27.14		
	- A360-600 wing	185,024		1,224,699 Total	62.9 L CDF =	1.1845	27.09		
						\square	,		

Figure 17 - Example 2A Results Table 2 PCN Values

Both the -6D and CDF thickness requirements are seen in comparison to the evaluation thickness in Figure 18. Comparison of these values shows the expectation of pavement thickness for the traffic mix. A CDF that is greater than the evaluation thickness indicates that the pavement will not be sufficient, at least for the period of time desired. Conversely, CDF values that are less than the evaluation thickness are a sign that the pavement that will be suitable for the traffic.

The "Maximum Allowable Aircraft Gross Weight from CDF" in Figure 18 is the same as the fifth column in Figure 17, and it is a precursor of the PCN calculation in that the PCN is simply the ACN at that weight. It is determined by assuming that that aircraft is critical and calculating the effect of the others in the traffic mix by use of the CDF procedure. In this example the allowable weights are slightly less than the "Aircraft GW from Traffic Mix" (from Figure 20), indicating that each will have an ACN that exceeds its respective PCN.



	9	- (°I - (U = CON	1FAA_S	Support-	2-29-12.x	ls [C	Compatibil	ity Mode]	- Mic	r Cr	art Tools				- =	x
	Home	Insert	Page Layout	Form	nulas (Data Re	view	View	Get Started	Acr	obat [Design	Layout	Format	0	- 5	⁵ X
	Chart 1		• (0	f_{∞}													≽
	Ą	В	С	D	E	F		J	K	L	М	N	0	P	C	R R	
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36	Chart 1 Flexit CBR	B ble Pave 9	C ment Example hickness at tra thickness at tra thic	Frexible Pavement Thickness Flexible Pavement Thickness State Pavement Thickness	E 40 in. 35 in. 25 in. 20 in. 15 in. 10 in. 5 in. 0 in. mix GW	F		J Six A38 0- 800 Bod y 27.7 33.1	K Most Den B78 7-8 31.7 33.2		M g Aircraf g Aircraf g Aircraf g Aircraf g Ai	N t in Traffic B74 7-8 26.7 33.3	O Mix Bi 7 30 E 32 33	P 1, 1, 1, 1, 60 40 20 77 50 R 22 12	400 200 000 00 00	Airplane Gross Weight, Ibs. (thousands)	
37		o. ∈vai equ	iivalent paven	nent		33.0		33.0	33.0		33.0	33.0	33	.0			
38 39	-0-	4. Max	Allowable Air. CDF	craft (GW from	1,224,6	99	1,254,437	498,91	17	626,980	967,868	3 771,	,742			
40	<u> </u>	5. Aircr	aft GW from t	traffic	mix	1,234,5	00	1,258,850	503,50	00	633,000	978,000) 777,	,000			
42 43	<u></u>															-4	
Ready	► Lay	er Equiv	alency 📈 k Va	alue 📈	Form 50	10 🖌 Da	ta Pa	Average	cible Char e: 11 Cou	rt / Ri unt: 8	gid Chart Sum: 63		100%	Θ	U	(► I ⊕;;

Figure 18 - Example 2A Thickness and Maximum Weight Requirements

Graphic comparisons of ACN and PCN are seen in Figure 19 for the six most demanding aircraft of the traffic mix. Although the indicated PCN of 71 FBWT is slightly less than the ACN, it may be close enough for the airport authority to be acceptable.

It is very important to realize that the PCN calculation is based on a combination of factors, including pavement thickness, equivalency factors, CBR, and traffic projections. Each will affect the final number in various degrees, so the PCN should be looked at as an estimation of the pavement strength and not as a precisely derived value. This allows judgment of the airport engineer to be the final determination as to the acceptability of the pavement for the traffic.



		- (° - (5 = COM	IFAA_Su	pport-2	-29-12	2.xls [C	Compatibili	ity Mode] - Mio	cr Cha	rt Tools			- =	x
	Home	Insert	Page Layout	Formu	las Da	ita I	Review	View	Get Starte	d Ac	robat De	esign La	yout Form	nat 🕜) _ =	> X
	Chart	2	+ (9	f _x												×
	A	В	С	D	E	F		J	K	L	M	N	0 F)	Q R	
44	-															
45	FI	exible Pa	vement Exam	ple 2A												
40	CI	3R 9				1		Civ Maa	+ Domon	din a A	iroroft in Tr	offic Mix		T ^{3,00}) –	
48				PC	V= 90				t Deman	aing A	arcraft in Tr			F		
49						1			₩	t				È .		
50	-			PC	V= 80 -									- 2,50	נ 📙	
51			0			1			/		69	70 69	71 71	Ē	-	
53			33	PCI	N= 70 -	64	62	63 63	66	65	- °° 67 -			t		
54			- -	_			03	00 00						+ 2,00	ູ	
55			6	PCI	N= 60 -				-/					ţ.	ture	
56	-		÷.											ŀ	bar	
58			E C	PCI	N= 50 -				\top					- 1,50	ງ ວຶ 🕂	
59			а Ш											t i	la 🛛	
60			de	PCI	N= 40 -				T		1			}	Ant	
61	_		8	DO										÷ 1.00	o	
62			ade	PCI	N= 30 -								7	1		
64	-		bgr	DO	- 20									F	-	
65			Su	PU	N- 20 .									¹ 500		
66				PC	N= 10									-		
67				FU	V- IV .									F		
69				P	: N= 0 -									t o	-	
70					v	A38	0-800	A380-800) B78	7-8	MD11ER	B747-8	B777-300	ľ		
71	1000000	1 Aircon	ft ACN at test	fie min	CW/	W	ang	Body	66	1	67.0	60.7	EK 71.2	-		
72		2 Calcul	In ACIN at trat	CDE m	av GM	0	3.0 2.0	63.4	65	3	0.10	68.6	70.5	-		
73		3 Annua	Departures	from tr	ar. GW	0.	2.3	05.1	05.		00.5	00.0	10.3	-	-	-L
75		o. / m/uo	mix			2	00	200	2,72	20	480	120	1,320			
76	82-1			h	F.0.1		Data D		ihle ob		Visid Chart					
Dep.rtv	E E	yer Equiva	alency 🖉 K Va	ilue / F	orm 501	0 /	Data Pa	arse 1 Hex	able Cha	rt / R	kigid Chart		100%			
Ready													100%			J .::

Figure 19 - Example 2A ACN and PCN Comparison

Table 8 presents a comparison of allowable gross weights according to the FAA method and the PCN method. As was the case in Rigid Pavement Example 1A, a number of models could not be rated with the FAA method, but the strength rating is readily available by using the PCN results.

Aircraft	MTW	D180	DT300	DDT650	PCN 71 FB
	(1000 lb)				
B777-300ER	777				772
B747-8	978			650	992
B787-8	504		300		530
B727-200	186	180			249
MD-11	633				655
B747-400ER	913			650	991
A380	1,234				1,353

 Table 8 - Example 2A Allowable Gross Weights

BOEING

Example 2B - Adding an Overlay

If it is determined that the pavement strength is not sufficient, then an overlay is may be in order. Pavement characteristics are not shown here, but simply increase the P-401 thickness of Table 5 with a 2 inch overlay to an 8 inch total surface thickness. The total pavement thickness, shown in Figure 20, increases over 4 inches from 33.1 to 37.7 due to the effect of the conversion factors.

Figure 21 shows that the PCN greatly exceeds the ACN required for the increased thickness; however, use of these results requires careful consideration. Notice the large number of aircraft with equivalent coverages that are >5,000,000 and have corresponding CDF values at 0.0000. This means that the contribution of these aircraft to the reduction in pavement life is very minimal at this thickness. The total CDF is less than 0.01, giving strong indication that the pavement is over designed for the traffic mix, and this is also a sign that this pavement rating of PCN 104 is too high. With the very small total CDF, the pavement is not stressed enough to yield a valid rating.

G) 🖬 🤊 -	(**) =	12-6Dra	aftco	mfaa_su	upportVa	ariableRrefer	ence - 1	1.xls	[Co	ompatib	ility Mo	ode] - I	Microso	ft Excel				x
	Home	Insert	Page L	ayout	t Fo	rmulas	Data F	Review	Vi	ew	Get	t Started	A A	robat			0) - 🖻	×
	A6	•	0	f _x	P-40	1 and/o	r P-403												≯
	A		В			D	F	G		Н	1	J	К	L	М	N	0	Р	
2	Reference	Guidance	AC 150/53	35-5B	Append	lix A-2	Existing					Surface	e Down	Convert	Subgrad	le Up Co	onvert		
3			Fig. A2	-2	Figs. A2	2-1, A2-2	Flexible	Existin	g Lay	er	Convert	8 in.	Excess	Equiv.	8 in.	Excess	Equiv.		
4	Structure	ltems	to P-2	19	to P	1vert	Pavement				to P-209	P-209 Rea'd	TOF P-154	to P-154	P-209 Reald	TOF P-154	to P-154		•
6	P-401 and	d/or P-403	1.4 A 1.5 1.6 V	1.6	2.1 A 2.2 2.3 V	2.3	ENTER P-401 and/or P-403	Ð	8.0	in	4.8	4.8	0.0	0.0	8.0	3.0	6.9		
7		P-306	1.3 A 1.4 1.5 S	1.4	1.6 A 1.7 1.8 V	1.8	ENTER P-306		0.0	in	0.0	4.8	0.0	0.0	8.0	0.0	0.0		
8		P-304	1.3 A 1.4 1.5 S	1.4	1.6 ▲ 1.7 1.8 ▼	1.8	ENTER P-304		0.0	in	0.0	4.8	0.0	0.0	8.0	0.0	0.0		
9		P-209		1.0	1.2 A 1.3 1.4	1.4	ENTER P-209	÷	10.0	in	10.0	8.0	6.8	9.5	8.0	2.0	2.8		
10	P-208 and	d/or P-211		1.0	1.1 1.2	1.0	ENTER P-208 and/or P-211	÷	0.0	in	0.0	8.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		
11		P-301	n/a		1.1 1.2	1.0	ENTER P-301	÷	0.0	in	n/a	n/a	0.0	0.0	n/a	0.0	0.0		
12		P-154	n/a			1.0	ENTER P-154		15.0	in	n/a	n/a	15.0	15.0	n/a	15.0	15.0	Format	
13				_			where de CDD		-	_		8.0		24.5	< ma z P	-154 t >>	24.7		
14	Equivalent Thi	ckness, ir	ı.	L		ENTERS	ubgrade CBR	•	9.0	2	Zero All			victing Paul	omont	Envi			1
15	P-401 and	d/or P-403	5.0		"P-154 cor	nverted to P	Equivitotal -401 if P-401 <min< td=""><td></td><td>37.7</td><td>U</td><td></td><td></td><td>0 310000</td><td>xisting rav</td><td>ement</td><td>Equi</td><td>Valent Fav</td><td>ement</td><td></td></min<>		37.7	U			0 310000	xisting rav	ement	Equi	Valent Fav	ement	
16		P-209	8.0		and/or cor	nverted to P	-209 if P-209 <min< td=""><td></td><td>0.0</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>5</td><td>P-401</td><td>l</td><td></td><td>P-401</td><td>atetetetet</td><td></td></min<>		0.0				5	P-401	l		P-401	atetetetet	
17		P-154 Total	24.7				Total	l	33.0			1			*****		P-209		
10	CONFAAF	- local	51.1				Flexible Paven	nent Exar	nple 2	В.		<u>ن</u> ۽ ا		P-209					
19 20	Evaluation f	hickness	t = 37.7	in			Subgrade CBF	tis 9, bas	se cou	irse		²⁰	1	<u></u>					
21	Evaluation (BR = 9	0				thickness is 1	5 inches.	Fuel	is o	btained	j 5 ²⁰	P 1						
	Recommend	led PCN	_ Codes: F	/B/V	V or		before departs	ure. Run	way h	ias ent	a life is	1 4t 2	5	P-154			P-154		
22	Recommend	led PCN	Codes: F	/B/X			estimated to be	e 20 year	rs.			ے ا 3							
					C		Airport LOC-					3	s = 0.000	Subgrad	le				
23					Da	ta	ID	Paven	nent	ID				CBŘ 9.	0		Subgrad	•	
26								11	1/29				u			u	CBR 9.0		J
28	Reference	Section	n Requir	eme	ents														
30	P-40	1, inches		5															
31	P-20	9, inches		8						=1	41.0			. /-					-
	How	To (3) 🖌	User 1 La	ayer	Equival	ency /	c Value 📈 Da	ita Parse	• <	Fle	kible Cha	art 🖉 F	Rigid Ch	art / F	orm 5()				
кеа	idy														80%	9		t	/

Figure 20 - Example 2B Evaluation Thickness Change

N BOEING

Another indication of overdesign is that the thicknesses for equivalent coverages are widely dispersed, as opposed to that in Figure 17 where the there is little scatter. When this level of dispersion occurs, and with the minimal CDF level it is best to make adjustments such as reducing the analysis thickness. Accordingly, for a design thickness of 34.0 inches like in Figure 22, the equivalent coverage thickness is much more uniform, especially for aircraft that are not at >5,000,000 equivalent coverages. The CDF in this case reflects that the pavement is approaching the desired value of 1.0.

Finally, the PCN in this case is at 74 FB, which is adequate for the traffic, as seen graphically in Figure 23.

It is not suggested that the additional thickness of less than 2 inches can be placed, but that the airport authority now has the ability to set a PCN within a range from 74 to that approaching 104. This covers future situations in which the traffic volume might increase, and the airport authority will still have confidence in the pavement strength, regardless of the volume increase in a critical aircraft.

By placing the overlay, the pavement is considered to have a new 20-year life; however, it is always wise to review calculations sooner in that current prevailing conditions might change.

6	D ICA	ICAO ACN Computation, Detailed Output												
	l Conv	Jnit versions Alpha	Show Ext File	ircraft ACN tible C Rigid	Other Calculation	Modes CN Batch) Thickne	ess C Life C MG	ï₩					
					Save PCN (Dutput to a To	ext File							
	Resu No.	lts Table 2. PCN V Aircraft Name	'alues Critical Aircraft Total Equiv. Covs.	Thickness for Total Equiv. Covs.	Maximum Allowable Gross Weight	t = 37.7 incl PCN on B (10)	hes CDF	ACN Thick at Max. Allowable Gross Weight	<					
	1 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18	B747-400ER B747-8 B787-8 B717-200 HGW B727-200 Basic B737-300/400/500 B737-700/800 B757-200 B767-300 ER B777-300 ER MD11ER MD83 A319-100 opt A320 Twin opt A320 Twin opt A320-100 std A300-B4 STD A340-200 opt A380-800 Body	128,808 9,079 48,192 >5,000,000 >5,000,000 >5,000,000 >5,000,000 >5,000,000 >5,000,000 >5,000,000 >5,000,000 >5,000,000 >5,000,000 >5,000,000 >5,000,000 >5,000,000 >5,000,000 >40,936	33.14 30.66 32.45 34.67 34.11 37.30 35.19 29.68 37.27 36.96 32.51 35.63 36.52 35.92 34.55 37.12 35.22 35.49 34.19	1,076,999 1,277,882 612,857 141,490 217,803 153,308 195,848 350,323 418,957 796,800 774,802 177,773 158,752 186,925 208,544 373,574 567,583 1,362,840	80.2 103.8 87.3 39.3 59.6 40.1 52.3 52.0 55.0 74.0 89.8 52.2 37.6 47.3 55.8 53.2 56.7 71.0 75.9	0.0008 0.0036 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000	30.59 34.80 31.92 21.42 26.36 21.65 24.71 24.63 25.33 29.39 32.36 24.68 20.94 23.48 25.51 24.91 25.73 28.77 29.76	III					
	19	A380-800 Wing	490,181	34.19	1,407,940 Tot	75.9 al CDF =	0.0000 0.0061	29.76						

Figure 21 - Example 2B Results Table 2 PCN Values



🛞 ic.	AO ACN Computation	, Detailed Output						
Con	Unit versions Alpha	Show Ext File	aircraft ACN xible C Rigid	Other Calculation N • PCN • AC	Aodes IN Batch () Thickn	ess C Life C MGV	•
				🔲 Save PCN O	utput to a T	ext File		
Resi	ults Table 2. PCN V	alues Critical	Thickness	Maximum	t = 34.0 in	ches	ACN Thick at	^
No.	Aircraft Name	Aircraft Total Equiv. Covs.	for Total Equiv. Covs.	Allowable . Gross Weight	PCN on B(10)	CDF	Max. Allowable Gross Weight	
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 13 14 15 16 17 18	B747-400ER B747-8 B787-8 B717-200 HGW B727-200 Basic B737-300/400/500 B737-700/800 B767-200 B767-300 ER B777-300 ER MD11ER MD183 A319-100 opt A320 Twin opt A321-100 std A300-B4 STD A340-200 opt A380-800 Body	124,464 33,032 75,102 >5,000,000 2,770,707 >5,000,000 >5,000,000 4,223,722 60,739 61,352 >5,000,000 >5,000,000 >5,000,000 >5,000,000 >5,000,000 >5,000,000 >5,000,000 >5,000,000	33.09 32.88 33.06 33.94 33.30 33.64 33.40 29.68 33.50 33.34 33.06 33.43 33.79 33.48 33.32 33.48 33.32 33.61 33.85 33.75	945,091 1,022,104 522,925 122,354 193,478 153,212 179,828 305,321 420,677 797,318 658,516 165,707 152,304 177,037 187,018 371,405 518,954 1,271,323	$\begin{array}{c} 66.5\\ 74.1\\ 69.7\\ 32.6\\ 51.0\\ 40.1\\ 47.0\\ 42.3\\ \overline{55.3}\\ \overline{74.1}\\ 71.5\\ 47.7\\ 35.8\\ 44.2\\ 48.5\\ 52.7\\ 50.5\\ 64.3\\ 52.7\\ 50.5\\ 64.3\\ \end{array}$	0.0634 0.0195 0.1792 0.0000 0.0001 0.0000 0.0038 0.1581 0.0404 0.0001 0.0005 0.0012 0.0004 0.0004 0.0003	27.85 29.40 28.51 19.51 24.39 21.64 23.42 22.23 25.41 29.41 28.90 23.59 20.45 22.70 23.80 24.81 24.28 27.39	
19	ASOU-OUU Wing	192,446	33.23	1,274,700 Tot:	al CDF =	0.4747) 27.83	

Figure 22 - Example 2B Results, Table 2 Adjusted PCN Values





Figure 23 - Example 2B ACN and PCN Comparison

Example 2C - Reducing the CBR

Pavement Characteristics

Runway properties relevant to the analysis are shown in Table 5 for runway 11/29, but the CBR has been reduced from 9 to 8. While there is no change in the evaluation thickness of 33 inches, the subgrade code is now C.

With the same traffic as in Example 2A, Figure 26 shows that the PCN is reduced to 73 FC, while the critical aircraft ACN is at 89 FC. There are two other indications that the pavement is overloaded. The first is that the thickness for total equivalent coverages exceeds the design thickness of 33.0 inches. The second is that the total CDF is much greater than 1.00.

Graphical representation of the PCN versus ACN is shown in Figure 25. From this, it is obvious that the correct CBR determination is one of the critical parameters for this analysis.



🛞 IC	AO ACN Computation	, Detailed Output						
Cor	Unit Show aversions Alpha	Show Ext File	craft ACN ble O Rigid	Other Calculation Mo	odes I Batch (C Thickne	ess O Life O MG ¹	٤
				🔲 Save PCN Ou	tput to a T	ext File		
Pes	ults Table 2 DCN I	Jalues.						^
1.00	aros nabre e. rom .	Critical	Thickness	Maximum			ACN Thick at	
		Aircraft Total	for Total	Allowable	PCN on		Max. Allowable	
No	. Aircraft Name	Equiv. Covs.	Equiv. Covs.	Gross Weight	C(6)	CDF	Gross Weight	
1	B747-400KR	150.182	 36.62	798.436	63.3	1.0316	36.22	
2	B747-8	65,523	37.31	836,796	68.0	0.1929	37.55	
3	B787-8	108,158	36.76	436,933	64.7	2.4440	36.63	
4	B717-200 HGW	>5,000,000	33.91	116,319	34.5	0.0000	26.74	
5	B727-200 Basic	1,995,677	35.78	162,320	46.6	0.0026	31.11	
6	B737-300/400/500	>5,000,000	34.75	137,892	39.5	0.0096	28.62	=
7	B737-700/800	>5,000,000	35.42	155,612	43.4	0.0986	30.02	-
8	B757-200	>5,000,000	32.59	260,254	41.3	0.0000	29.28	
9	B767-300 ER	927,134	35.57	375,278	56.5	0.3435	34.24	
10	B777-300 ER	43,962	36.20	688,760	73.7	4.2893	39.07	
11	MD11ER	92,056	36.73	546,683	65.2	0.5282	36.77	
12	MD83	≻5,000,000	35.25	143,713	43.7	0.0025	30.09	
13	A319-100 opt	>5,000,000	34.38	141,352	35.9	0.0005	27.28	
14	A320 Twin opt	>5,000,000	35.22	155,934	41.5	0.0300	29.32	
15	A321-100 std	3,576,178	35.64	160,331	44.5	0.0330	30.38	
16	A300-B4 STD	1,426,470	35.25	334,868	55.1	0.0602	33.79	
17	A340-200 opt	>5,000,000	34.58	481,791	52.1	0.0048	32.88	
18	A380-800 Body	189,823	35.17	1,156,002	67.5	0.1394	37.42	
19	A380-800 Wing	175,828	36.23	1,084,242 Tota	62.0 1 CDF =	9.3216	35.85	





Figure 25 - Example 2C ACN and PCN Comparison

BOEING

Example 3 - Composite Pavement

Annual Traffic

This airport has one runway -17/35, and it is composed of several built up layers of mixed properties. The section analyzed is in the middle of the runway, so that any pavement strength issues must be addressed. The airport authority has reported the average annual traffic as seen in Table 9.

Table 9 - Example 3 Traffic

Aircraft	Gear Type	Gross Weight (Ib)	Average Annual Departures
A319-100	D	150,000	9,500
A320 Bogie	2D	167,300	7,200
A330-200	2D	469,000	3,700
B727-200C	D	172,000	600
B737-300/500	D	140,000	11,300
B737-700	D	153,500	32,120
B737-800	D	173,000	40,150
B747-400B	2D/2D2	873,000	660
B757-200	2D	250,000	1,095
B767-200	2D	335,000	460
B767-300	2D	271,000	28,105
B767-300 ER	2D	409,000	660
B767-400 ER	2D	451,000	1,490
B777-200	3D	537,000	720
B777-200 ER	3D	634,500	770
DC10-10	2D	443,000	1,200
DC9-51	D	121,000	820
MD83	D	150,500	2,555
MD90	D	157,000	19,400
MD11ER	2D/D1	621,000	700

Example 3A - Composite Pavement Runway 17/35

Pavement Characteristics

Runway properties relevant to the analysis are shown in Table 10 for runway 17/35. This runway is classified as flexible because of the surface composition, but it is composed of layers that differentiate it from the typical rigid or flexible runway. The primary difference is that the PCC layer lies directly on the subgrade, beneath the rest of the layers, making calculation of the equivalent thicknesses somewhat unique.

Application of the equivalency factors for composite pavement sections is not covered in AC 150/5335-5B, so it was required that consultation with the FAA be utilized. Their recommendation was to add all like layers before the equivalency conversions, and then treat the



pavement as is normally done for either flexible or rigid. In this case add all like pavements together to determine equivalencies.

Table 7 recommends conversion of P-501 to P-401 by a factor of 2.5. This results in a P-401 equivalent thickness of:

P-501	6.0" x 2.5	= 15.0" P-401
P-401	4.0" + 2.0" + 15.0"	= 21.0" P-401

Figure 26 shows the evaluation thickness is 53.5 inches for this pavement structure, with the PCC layer contributing 15 inches, as calculated above. The total evaluation thickness is based on the "Subgrade up Convert", rendering it slightly thicker than if the more conventional "Surface Down Convert" was utilized. The conversions are determined like this:

(P-401	21.0" - 5.0"	=	16.0" excess material	
		16.0" x 1.6	=	25.6" convert to P-209	
		(25.6" - 8.0")/1.6	=	11.0" excess for P-154	
		11.0" x 2.3	=	25.3" to be added to P-154	
	P-304	4.0" x 1.6	=	6.4" to be added to P-154	
	P-209	6.0" x 1.4	=	8.4" to be added to P-154	
	P-154	25.3"+6.4"+8.4"	=	40.1"	
	Subgrade 1	Down Convert	=	5.0"+ 8.0" + 40.1" = 53.1"	
\backslash	Subgrade	Up Convert (details not shown)	=	5.0"+ 8.0" + 40.5" = 53.5"	
	<u> </u>				

Table 10 - Example 3A Pavement Properties

Runway:	17/35		
Overlay date:	1999		
Construction date:	Varies		
Surface HMA	4	in.	P-401
Base CTB	4	in.	P-304
Base HMA	2	in.	P-401
Subbase	6	in.	P-209
Subbase PCC	6	in.	P-501
Evaluation thickness	53.5	in.	Figure 28
CBR	4		Code D
Remaining life	7	years	



C) 🖬 🤊 - (° -	∓ 12-6D	raftcomfaa_sup	oportVariat	oleRrefere	nce	Overla	y.xls [Comp	atibility	Mode]	- Mic	r		х
	Home Inse	rt Page	Layout Form	nulas Da	ata Rev	iew	v V	iew	Get 9	Started	Acro	obat	0	- 🖻	x
	A13	- (0	f_x												≯
	A	В	D	F	G	Н	1	J	К	L	М	N	0	Р	F
2	Reference Guidance /	AC 150/5335-5	B Appendiz A-2	Existing	Fristing			Surfac	e Dow	n Conve	Subgra	de Up C	onvert		
3		Fig. A2-2	Figs. A2-1, A2-2	Flezible	Layer		Conver	8 in.	Excess	Equiv.	8 in.	Excess	Equiv.		
4	Flexible Pavement Structure Items	Convert to P-209	Convert to P-154	Pavement	Thicknes	s	to P-209	P-209 Bea'd	For P-154	to P-154	P-209 Bea'd	For P-154	to P-154		
Ť		1.4 🛋	2.1 🛋	ENTER P-			1 200								=
		1.5	2.2	401 and/or	<u>-</u>										
6	P-401 and/or P-403	1.6	2.3	P-403	21.0	in	25.6	8.0	11.0	25.3	8.0	16.0	36.8		
7	P-306	1.4	1.7	ENTER P- 306	÷ 0.0	in	0.0	8.0	0.0	0.0	8.0	0.0	0.0		
		1.2	1.6	ENTER P-											
8	P-304	1.3 1.4 🕑 1.2	1.7 1.8 💌 1.6	304	÷ 4.0	in	4.8	8.0	4.0	6.4	8.0	2.3	3.7		
			1.2	ENTER P-											
9	P-209	1.0	1.4 🗹 1.4	209 ENTER P-	<u> </u>	in	6.0	8.0	6.0	8.4	6.0	0.0	0.0		
			1.1	208 and/or	-										
10	P-208 and/or P-211	1.0	1.2 1.0	P-211	<u> </u>	in	0.0	8.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		
	5.000			ENTER P-	÷			Ι.							
11	P-301	n/a	1.2 1.0	301	- 0.0	in	n/a	n/a	0.0	0.0	n/a	0.0	0.0		1
12	P-154	nta	1.0	ENTER P-	÷	in	nta	nta	0.0	0.0	nła	0.0	0.0	Forma	
13		1						<u> </u>						Chart	
14	Faujualent Thickness	8	ENTER Su	Jbgrade CBR	4.0		Zero All	8.0		40.1	<< mex P	-154 t >>	40.5		1
15	P-401 and/or P-403	5.0	L	Equivtotal	53.5		Leio All	JI .		Existing Pav	ement	Equ	ivalent Pav	ement	
16	P-209	8.0	**P-154 converted to P-4	101 if P-401 (min) = :6 P-200 (min				I '	" I				P-401		
17	P-154	40.5	anarar canopropa (a r - 20	79177-2075min Tota	1 31.0				5 - E						
18	Total	53.5		Project Det	ails			1	•	P-401			P-209		
19	COMFAA Evaluation (Criteria		Composite P Subgrade CPP	avement Exam	iple : htei	3. ned	1 1 1 1	5 - E						
20	Evaluation thickness	t = 53.5 in		before departu	ire. Runway ha	sap	parallel	L S							
21	Evaluation CBR = 4.0			taxiway. The p be 20 years	avement life is	esti	mated to	² ۽		P-304	2222				
	Recommended PCN	Codes: F/D/W	<u>Vor</u>					1 2 2 2 2	• 1000						
22	Recommended PCN	Codes: F/D/X		ļ	1			3	•						
			Save	Airport				3	5 -	Subgrad CBR 4.	50 0		P-164		
23			Data		Pavement	ID	-								
26				jj Example 3	17735										J
20	Reference Section	n Requirem	nents												
30	P-401, inches	5													
31	P-209, inches	8	avor Equivalar		un / Data	D-2		Elovible	o Charl	н / ри	aid Chi	4		<u>k</u>	
Des	du How 10 (3)		ayer Equivaler	су / к val	ue 🖉 Data	Ра	ise 🖉	FIEXIDI							
кеа	uy										0% 🕒			U	/ .::

Figure 26 - Example 3A Composite Pavement Layer Equivalency

With the runway properties of Table 10 and the traffic of Table 9, COMFAA results are shown in Figure 27. The equivalent thickness in this case is not adequate for the traffic, with several of the six most demanding aircraft requiring -6D thicknesses that exceed 53.5 inches. Likewise, all aircraft shown have CDF thicknesses that are well above the equivalent number. The need for improved pavement capability is also evident from the PCN chart of Figure 28 in that the ACN's greatly exceed the PCN's for the six most demanding aircraft.



S ICAO ACN Computation, Detailed Output														
	l Conv	Init ersions Alpha	Show Ext File	le Aircraft A0 Flexible	CN Rigid	- Other Calcul • PCN	ation Modes	C Thic	kness:	C Life	<u>B</u> ack			
Results Table 1. Input Traffic Data												^		
			Gross	Percent	Tire	Annual	20-yr	6D						
	No.	Aircraft Name	Weight	Gross Wt	Press	Deps	Coverages	Thick						
ľ	1	A319-100	150,800	91.40	200.1	9,500	48,517	40.57						
	2	A330-200	151,600	94.76	205.9	3,700	21,475	23.60						
	з	B727-100C	170,000	95.30	165.0	600	3,739	38.34						
	4	B737-300/500	140,000	90.86	201.0	11,300	58,390	40.23						
	5	B737-700	155,000	91.70	205.0	32,000	167,872	44.25						
	6	B737-800	174,700	93.56	205.0	40,500	227,691	48.45						
	7	B747-400	877,000	93.32	200.0	660	7,570	51.78						
	8	B747-400ER	913,000	93.60	230.0	2,920	31,927	57.50		Excode				
	9	B757-200	256,000	91.18	183.0	1,090	10,972	39.51		Exceeds				
	10	B767-200	317,000	92.30	190.0	460	4,528	39.09	◀	design				
	11	B767-300ER	413,000	92.40	200.0	28,100	307,694	58.06		thickness				
	12	B767-400ER	451,000	93.94	215.0	880	9,697	54.39						
	13	B777-200	537,000	95.42	185.0	720	10,189	45.67						
	14	B777-200ER	657,000	91.80	205.0	940	13,708	52.58						
	15	B777-300ER	777,000	92.44	221.0	960	14,712	59.88						
	16	DC10-10	458,000	93.32	195.0	1,200	12,510	51.56						
	17	DC9-51	122,000	93.94	172.0	820	4,497	33.22						
	18	MD83	161,000	94.76	195.0	2,550	14,909	41.84						
	19	MD90-30ER	168,500	93.96	193.0	19,400	116,115	47.20						
	20	MD11ER	633,000	77.54	206.0	120	1,304	48.24	,			~		

Figure 27 - Example 3A Graphical Composite Pavement Thickness Requirements



Figure 28 - Example 3A ACN and PCN Comparison

BOEING

Example 3B - Overlay of Composite Runway 17/35

It is apparent that the PCN is not sufficient for the pavement, considering the variables discussed above, and an overlay may be appropriate. Pavement characteristics are not shown here, but simply increase the P-401 thickness as shown in Figure 26 by 4 inches to 25 inches. The total pavement thickness increases from 53.5 to 62.7 inches due to the effect of the conversion factors. The resulting PCN of 127 FDWT is adequate for the traffic, as seen in Figure 29.

This covers future situations in which the traffic volume might increase, and the airport authority will still have confidence in the pavement strength, regardless of the volume increase in a critical aircraft.

By placing the overlay, the pavement is considered to have a new 20-year life; however, it is always wise to review these calculations after a period of time in that conditions might change



Figure 29 - Example 3B Composite Pavement ACN and PCN Comparison

BDEING

Example 4 - Excessively Over-designed Pavement

The following runway has excessive thickness for the traffic, and it has to be treated in a different manner. Table 11 shows the runway characteristics, and the evaluation thickness is calculated in Figure 30. Traffic is shown in Table 12.

Runway 02/20 (Flexible)	8	in.	
Surface HMA	8	in.	P-401
Base	10	in.	P-209
Subbase	17	in.	P-154
Evaluation thickness	40	in.	Figure 33
CBR	16		Code A

 Table 11 - Example 4 Pavement Properties



Figure 30 - Example 4 Pavement Layer Equivalency Calculation



Aircraft	Gear Type	Gross Weight (lb)	Average Annual Departures
AN-124	5D	877,430	3
B727-200	D	185,200	205
B737-200	D	128,600	3,580
B737-700	D	155,000	1,632
B737-900ER	D	188,200	874
B747-200F	2D/2D2	836,000	581
B747-400F	2D/2D2	877,000	444
B747-8F	2D/2D2	978,000	444
B757-200	2D	256,000	874
B767-200	2D	317,000	874
L-1011	2D	432,000	32
MD-80	D	161,000	1,492

Table 12 - Example 4 Traffic

PCN Calculation of Runway 02/20

After entering the traffic and the pavement characteristics into COMFAA, the PCN results are determined as shown in Figure 31. The evaluation thickness is far more than adequate for the traffic, with all of the aircraft thickness requirements calculated at much less than 40 inches. Additionally, every aircraft except the 747-8 has greater than 5,000,000 operations allowed, meaning that the pavement has unlimited life under these conditions.

		🐵 ICAO ACN Computation, Detailed Output													
Unit Conversions Alpha Ext Fi	Single Airci	raft ACN le C Rigid	Other Calculation Mo • PCN • ACN	odes I Batch () Thickne	ess O Life O MG	۲								
	Save PCN Output to a Text File														
Results Table 2 PCN Values															
No. Aircraft Name Eq	ritical raft Total puiv. Covs.	Thickness for Total Equiv. Covs.	Maximum Allowable Gross Weight	PCN on A(15)	CDF	ACN Thick at Max. Allowable Gross Weight									
<pre>1 An-124 2 B727-200 3 B737-200 4 B737-700 5 B737-900 ER 6 B747-200F 7 B747-400F 8 B747-8 9 B757-200 10 B767-200 11 L-1011 12 MD80 When computing the numbers of the aircraft converged a the evaluation thickness. T and the pavement is very st relative aircraft load eval the procedures used to dete of the support. The thicknes </pre>	0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000	36.86 25.56 25.70 25.16 25.13 29.67 29.77 44.07 30.19 29.55 30.34 25.86													

Figure 31 - Example 4 Results Table 2 PCN Showing Unlimited Pavement Life



Note that the total CDF is at 0.00, providing indication that the pavement greatly exceeds that traffic demands. Also, the PCN of the 747-8 is 272 FA, which by inspection is not common sense.

In order to arrive at a valid rating for this runway, it is suggested that the thickness be gradually artificially reduced until the "Thickness for Total Equivalent Coverages." becomes somewhat uniform, such as in Figure 32. In this case, an evaluation thickness of 22 inches results in PCN 79 FAWT shown graphically in Figure 36. Compare this with the highest ACN of 63 FB.

If future traffic that requires a higher PCN is introduced at this airport, then the PCN should be re-evaluated; however, the airport authority will have confidence that there will not be a problem due to the techniques used.

6	😔 ICAO ACN Computation, Detailed Output														
Unit Conversions Show Ext File Single Aircraft ACN Other Calculation Modes It Flexible C Rigid PCN C ACN Batch C Thickness C Life C MG															
	Save PCN Output to a Text File														
									^						
	Resul	lts Table 2. PCN	Values	Thickness	Mavimum			åCN Thick s+							
			Aircraft Total	for Total	Allowable	PCN on		Max. Allowable							
	No.	Aircraft Name	Equiv. Covs.	Equiv. Covs.	Gross Weight	A(15)	CDF	Gross Weight							
	1	An-124	>5,000,000	18.17	1,132,355	58.3	0.0000	20.39							
	2	B727-200	178,040	20.05	213,618	55.1	0.0006	19.83							
	3 B737-200		>5,000,000	21.69	131,316	30.7	0.0000	14.80							
	4 B737-700		>5,000,000	20.99	167,008	39.7 0.0000		16.84							
	5	B737-900 KR	74,264	19.83	222,588	58.6 0.005		20.44							
	6	B747-200F	2,510,460	21.18	885,386	51.7	0.0002	19.22							
	7	B747-400F	99,624	20.50	971,453	61.1 0.004		20.87							
	8	B747-8	5,858	19.58	1,163,602	79.1	0.0695	23.75							
	9	B757-200	>5,000,000	18.67	321,322	40.2	0.0000	16.93							
	10	B767-200	>5,000,000	19.99	366,707	41.6	0.0000	17.22							
	11	L-1011	4,419,704	21.29	455,683	51.6	0.0000	19.19							
	12	MD80	418,460	20.22	183,408	50.1	(8.0017)	18.91							
					Total	L CDF =	0.0818								

Figure 32 - Example 4 Results Table 2 PCN

An alternate approach to arriving at a valid rating in cases like this would be to increase the PCN by a percentage greater than the highest ACN of the expected traffic. If a factor of 25% were chosen, then the runway would be rated at:

ACN 63 FA x 1.25 = PCN 79 FAWT



		12) -	(° - C	j =	12-6D	raftcon	nfaa_s	uppoi	rtVariableF	Rreferenc	e.xls [Compati	bility Mode] - Micros	oft Ex		-		x
	H	me	Insert	Pag	ge Layout	For	mulas	Di	ata Rev	view V	/iew	Get Sta	rted Ac	robat		0) _	Ð	\mathbf{x}
	A	4		- ()	f_{x}														ਝ
	4	В	}	С	D	Е	F	1	J	K	L	Μ	N	0	Р	Q	R		5
44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51 52 53 54 56 57 58 59 60 61 62 63 64 65 67 68 69 70 71 72		xible de A	Examp Aircraf Calcul Annual	C 4 al C C C C C C C C C C C C C	PCN PCN PCN PCN PCN PCN PCN PCN PCN PCN	E = 90 = 80 = 70 = 60 = 50 = 50 = 40 = 30 = 20 = 10 :N= 0 :N= 0 :nix GW	F 48	52 52 47- 00F 8.1 1.7 81	J Six Most 55 46 55 B727- 200 45.8 55.1 205	K Demano 50 40 40 40 40 40 58.3 3		M rcraft in 59 48 48 59 48 59 48 48 59 48 48 59 58.6 874	N Traffic Mix 61 53 61 53 8747- 400F 53.2 61.1 444	0 79 63 63 8747-8 62.5 79.1	P 1,00 900 800 600 500 400 300 200 100 0	Annual Departures	R		
74				mi	х		2	01	205	3		074	444	444					
75																			-
H + +	►I .	Use	r 🖉 Lay	er Equiv	alency 🖌	k Value	e / D	ata Pa	rse Flex	ible Char	t Ri	gid Chart	Form 5	010 / 🚺					1
Ready											Cou	unt: 110		100%	-			- (+	

Figure 33 - Example 4 PCN and ACN Comparison

BOEING

Closing Thoughts

Calculation of ACN is very precise while PCN determination is subject to engineering judgment due to the many variables involved. Thus it is up to the engineer to apply conclusions to the PCN based on knowledge derived from experience and observation.

The FAA PCN procedure assumes that the pavement life is 20 years, both for rigid and flexible pavements. In the examples presented the projected pavement life is usually less than this time period. To overcome this anomaly, the traffic should be counted from the beginning of the assumed pavement life - either at construction or at the last overlay – and the derived PCN is valid from that beginning until the 20 years is realized. For example, if the last overlay was in 1996, then the PCN should be determined with traffic from 1996 to the present, and it would be valid until 2016.

If the PCN is less than the ACN required, then consideration needs to be taken for changes to the pavement or traffic:

- Is the ACN vs. PCN difference enough to be concerned?
- How confident is the traffic projection?
- Will the traffic change in the future, especially for the most six most demanding aircraft?
- Is an overlay scheduled in the near future? If so, the PCN in this case should be acceptable until the refurbishment is accomplished.
- Considering the age and condition of the pavement (Table 5), should an overlay be recommended in the near future? The COMFAA program calculates PCN based on a 20-year pavement life, and the pavement is estimated to have only 8 years of life remaining.
- Were the pavement properties, such as CBR and equivalency factors, accurately derived or just estimated? Small differences in some factors can have significant effect on the final PCN calculation. Here is a tradeoff study of a rigid pavement in which M_R and slab thickness was varied. The effect of 50 psi change in M_R on PCN is about the same as that for one inch of slab thickness:



Figure 34 - Effect of M_R and Slab Thickness on PCN



In the life of a pavement, it is possible that either the current or future traffic will load the pavement in such a manner that the assigned pavement rating is exceeded. ICAO presents a simplified method to account for minor pavement overloading in which the overloading may be adjusted by applying a small fixed percentage to the existing PCN. This is subject to a limitation on the number of operations that the overloading airplane will have. However, there is little guidance to the airport authority as to the impact of these adjustments on the pavement in terms of pavement life reduction or increased maintenance requirements.

The following thoughts on overload apply primarily to pavements that have been evaluated by using the *Technical* method. Pavements that have ratings determined by the *Using* aircraft method should follow the ICAO overload guidelines.

Adjustment for pavement overloads starts with the supposition that at least some of the aircraft in the traffic mix have ACN's that exceed the PCN. To resolve these kinds of problems the airport authority will have three options on their pavement strength rating selection:

- 1. Let the PCN remain, but retain local knowledge that there are some aircraft in the traffic mix that can be allowed to operate with ACN's that exceed the published PCN or at a reduced weight to not exceed the PCN. This option requires that the airport authority constantly be aware of the composure of the entire traffic mix in terms of operating gross weights and loading frequency. If the traffic mix has changes that affect the factors involved in developing a technically based PCN, then the PCN will need to be adjusted to reflect the changes. The airport authority will also have to internally make allowance for or prevent aircraft operations that exceed the PCN. The difficulty in doing so is that the magnitude of the PCN is out of step with the ACN's of some of the traffic. Furthermore, this places the airport at a competitive disadvantage with aircraft operators in that the operators cannot be confident of the ability of their aircraft to operate successfully on that pavement.
- 2. Provide for an increased PCN by either by adding an overlay or by reconstruction in order to accommodate aircraft with the higher ACN's. This option alleviates the problems discussed for the first option, but it does require additional expense to bring the pavement up to the strength required by the combination of aircraft in the traffic mix. Doing so will, however, allow operations at the required strength and for the desired pavement life.
- 3. Adjust the PCN upward to that of the airplane with the highest ACN. This option has the benefit of allowing all aircraft in the traffic mix to operate as necessary; however, by increasing the PCN, which implies higher pavement strength, the pavement life will be reduced unless there is a provision for increased maintenance.